
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 19 September 2017 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: G A Porter (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), M G Chandler (Deputy 
Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, C J Lawton, G J Taylor, 
C N Johnson, T A Carter (Cabinet Support Member), B Alcock (Chairman, Performance 
Monitoring Panel) (Advisory Member), G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit 
Committee) (Advisory Member), A M Newton (Independent Group Leader) (Advisory 
Member) and A R Woolf (Chairman, Policy Development Panel) (Advisory Member)

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 4.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   11 September 2017



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes 
a)   Minutes of the Cabinet - 

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 25 July 2017 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
1 - 10)

b)   Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee - 
To note the minutes of the priory Road Community Hub Sub-
Committee meeting held on 20 July 2017 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
11 - 16)

3. Declarations of Interest. 
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. Pride in South Holland (including an update on untidy sites).
To seek approval to recommend to Council to establish formal 
arrangements to continue the Pride in South Holland programme for 
2017/2018 and 2018/2019 and to provide an update on Untidy Sites and 
to advise Members of structural changes consequent upon the recent 
Place review (report for Portfolio Holder for Place and Executive Director 
– Place is enclosed).

(Pages 
17 - 36)

8. Delivering Spalding's Relief Road 
To update Members on progress and a series of key workstreams 
relating to the delivery of Spalding’s Western Road (report of the Deputy 
Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Growth and 
Commercialisation is enclosed).

(Pages 
37 - 58)

9. Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool 2018/19
To seek approval for South Holland District Council  to be re-admitted to 
the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool for 2018-19 (report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance is enclosed).

(Pages 
59 - 62)

10. Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan Area Designation 
The report invites Members to formally designate the Long Sutton 
Neighbourhood Plan area (report of the Executive Member for Growth is 
enclosed).

(Pages 
63 - 68)



11. Quarter 1 Finance Report 2017/18 
To provide information on Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2017) and forecast full 
year financial position of the Council (report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) is 
enclosed). 

(Pages 
69 - 90)

12. Quarter 1 2017-18 Performance Overview Report
To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 April 
2017 to 30 June 2017 (report of the Executive Director – Strategy and 
Governance is enclosed).

(Pages 
91 - 
112)

13. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 25 July 2017 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

G A Porter (Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

A Casson
P E Coupland 

R Gambba-Jones
C J Lawton
S-A Slade

G J Taylor
C N Johnson

Cabinet Support Member: T A Carter

The Chief Executive, the Executive Director Commercialisation, the Executive 
Manager - People and Public Protection, the Place Manager, the Strategic Housing 
Manager, the Environmental Services Manager, the Head of Services Revenues and 
Benefits, Strategic Business Partner, Business Manager Revenues & Benefits, the 
Head of Finance, the Interim Project Consultant, the Legal Services Manager and the 
Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Worth, 
together with Lincolnshire Community & Voluntary Service and the Director Strategy 
and Governance. 

In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) and Councillor 
A M Newton (Independent Group Leader), 

Community Representatives:  Citizens Advice Bureau and Parish Councils

1. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2017 were signed by the Leader as a 
correct record.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

Councillor Alcock informed the meeting that in relation to agenda items 12 and 16, in 
the interests of transparency, he wished it to be recorded that, although he did not 
hold a financial interest, he was a Director of Welland Homes Ltd.  He remained in 
the meeting during discussion of this item.

Councillor Coupland informed the meeting that in relation to agenda items 12 and 16, 
in the interests of transparency, he wished it to be recorded that, although he did not 
hold a financial interest, he was a Director of Welland Homes Ltd.  He remained in 
the meeting during discussion of this item.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 2 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

3. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION 
(STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution (Standing Orders).

4. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in.

5. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING PANELS 

Final Report of the Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group

Consideration was given to the final report of the Re-Letting of Void Properties Task 
Group containing recommendations which had been approved by the Performance 
Monitoring Panel.

The Chairman of the Task Group, Councillor G R Aley presented the report 
containing the Task Group’s recommendations to the Cabinet.

The work undertaken by the Task Group was welcomed.  Some improvements to the 
re-letting of void properties had already been seen although further improvements 
were required.  Changes to the way in which voids were dealt with would be 
incorporated within the Place Review – this, and the Task Group’s findings were 
mutually supportive pieces of work, and the Task Group’s recommendations would 
be taken forward and fed into the service review.

<1>It was stated that the loss of revenue due to properties being unlet for 20-30 days 
and longer would be incorporated into targets set as part of the Place Review.  
Members were also advised that hard to let properties would be part of the review of 
the Council’s housing stock, and information from this would be incorporated into the 
report (requested as a recommendation of the Task Group) due to be considered by 
the Performance Monitoring Panel in November.

DECISION:

<2>That the following recommendations of the Task Group be approved, and be 
taken forward and fed into the Place Review: 

a) That the voids process is amalgamated into one voids team and the process 
along with a number of actions within this are refined and/or removed.  This is for 
all properties within the housing stock (sheltered or general needs housing).  This 
may rely upon digital applications, key safes at properties to allow quicker access 
once vacated and automated communications with customers;

b) That the management of tenancies is overhauled to ensure property standards 
are maintained and/or recharges for repairs are appropriately received.  This 
includes procedures used at the commencement of any new tenancy to ensure 

Page 2



- 3 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

the efficiency and effectiveness of tenancy management and to ensure everyone, 
including the tenant, is aware of their duties and responsibilities during their 
tenancy.  This includes a need for clear communication of procedures to be 
followed during and at the end of the tenancies, such as the handing in of notice 
and the timescales/method to be followed for the return of keys.  This way of 
working will ensure swift timescales at the start of the process and support 
subsequent actions in the process to meet turnaround times;

c) That the marketing of properties is undertaken, with new methods actively sought.  
In the first instance it is recommended that the Council website and Facebook 
page is utilised to market properties, especially those where interest has been 
lacking.  Other techniques such as choice based lettings should be investigated 
further and where appropriate put into action;

d) That the current contracts are reviewed, that directly impact the voids timeline, 
potentially seeking to bring back in-house some services such as Energy 
Performance Certificate assessing;

e) That the current allocations policy is reviewed for effectiveness alongside a 
strategic property review for hard to let properties within the housing stock;

f) That the Housing Allocations policy is reviewed to ensure that waiting lists are 
appropriate for the housing need of South Holland;

g) That the voids process provides high quality properties within a consistent turn 
around that meets the needs of our tenants;  and

h) That these recommendations are allocated to an identified officer to ensure their 
action and that an update is received by the Performance Monitoring Panel on 
actions against these at the 7 November 2017 meeting.

(Other options considered:
 To not approve the Task Group’s Final Report and/or suggest that some or all 

of the recommendations be amended; or
 Do nothing

Reasons for Recommendation:
 The review was conducted as a result of worsening performance data, and the 

recommendations outlined in the Task Group’s report would ensure that the 
voids process was efficiently and effectively managed, and provided high 
quality houses to meet the needs of tenants.) 

6. PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT QUARTER 4 2016/17 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategy, 
Governance and Transformation and the Executive Director Strategy and 
Governance, which provided an update on Council performance for the period 1 
January 2017 to 31 March 2017.

Page 3



- 4 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

The Quarter 4 Performance Report 2016/17, attached at Appendix A to the report, 
provided councillors and residents with information about how the Council was 
delivering its services and how it was progressing against its Corporate Priorities.

Quarter 4 saw a decrease in levels of performance in comparison to the performance 
seen in quarter 3.  Four areas of concern were noted – Housing Void Figures; 
Average Wait Time in Seconds; Environmental Services; and Sickness.

<1>It was noted that the same report was presented to the Performance Monitoring 
Panel prior to consideration by the Cabinet, and that it would be useful for comments 
by the Panel to be fed into the Cabinet report.

<2>Concern was raised that sickness levels were again increasing.  The Cabinet 
requested that all service areas review their own positions and feed back in the next 
report.  It was also requested that there be a separation in the figures between long 
and short term sickness.

DECISION:

That the report be noted.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing;

Reasons for decision:
 No recommendations were made.  The report was presented for consideration 

in order that members were aware of how the Council was delivering its 
services and how it was progressing against its Corporate Priorities.)

7. APPOINTMENT OF PANELS AND WORKING PARTIES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager Governance which 
sought the appointment of Panels and Working Parties for the period 2017 – 2019.

Cabinet was advised of a change to the proposed membership of the ICT Councillor 
Working Group, and that Councillor Slade would be replaced by Councillor Johnson.

DECISION:

a) <1>That the Pre-Application Consultation Group be re-established for the period 
2017-19 without amendment to its terms of reference; and substitutions be 
permitted where members formed part of a political group subject to (i) 
substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or 
nominated representative submitting details to the Executive Manager 
Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the 
meeting, whichever was the sooner;

b) That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for 2017-2019 without 
amendment to the terms of reference; and substitutions be permitted (including 
for the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT) where members formed part of 

Page 4



- 5 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

a political group subject to (i) substitutions applying for individual meetings only 
and (ii) the group leader or nominated representative submitting details to the 
Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 
hours before the meeting, whichever was the sooner; and

c) That composition of both of these Groups be formed as follows:

Pre-Application Consultation Group

 Councillors B Alcock, G R Aley, F Biggadike, C J T H Brewis, A Casson, P E 
Coupland, H Drury, R Gambba-Jones, A Harrison, M D Seymour, E Sneath 
and P A Williams.

ICT Councillor Working Group

 Councillors G R Aley, J Astill, C J T H Brewis, M G Chandler, P C Foyster, A 
Harrison and C N Johnson.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendations; or
 To approve the recommendations with no amendments.

Reasons for decision:
 To enable delivery of the advisory/consultative support detailed in paragraph 

2.3 of the report.)

8. 2016-17 FINANCIAL OUTTURN 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which sought approval of 
recommendations in respect of the outturn financial position of the Council, as at 31 
March 2017.  The Financial Report for the year ending 31 March 2017 was attached 
to the report as Appendix A.

<1>It was noted that some figures in Table 7 within Appendix A (in the Actual 
under/overspend column) were showing as overspends rather than underspends.  It 
was requested that these figures be corrected prior to the report’s submission to 
Council.

RECOMMENDATIONS TO FULL COUNCIL

a) That the report and Appendix A be noted;

b) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with paragraph 
5.1.6 and Appendix A, Table 4 and 5 of the report; and

c) That the revised 2017-18 capital programme be approved, based on the carry 
forward and other budget adjustments noted at paragraph 5.1.6 and Appendix A 
Tables 9 and 10 of the report. 

Page 5



- 6 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

(Other options considered:
 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix 

A; or
 To do nothing.

Reasons for decision:
 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial 

performance in 2016-17 and to provide an updated financial position on 
reserves and the capital programme for 2017-18.)

9. BUSINESS RATES - LOCAL DISCRETIONARY RELIEF SCHEME 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which updated members on the 
introduction of schemes to support businesses following the national revaluation 
which came into place on 1 April 2017, and sought approval for the implementation  
of the government schemes and a Locally Administered Business Rate Relief 
Scheme to support businesses that faced increases in their business rates bills as a 
result of the revaluation.

Members were advised that the scheme would only run for three years, after which 
businesses would have to pay the full bill themselves.  Funding for all authorities was 
front loaded with 50% of the funding to be used in year one with a steep decline in 
the amount available in the subsequent two years.  There was currently no option to 
carry monies forward from one year to the next.

<1>It was also stated that national businesses were not excluded from the scheme 
however, some would naturally drop out of eligibility due to the State Aid Scheme.  It 
was requested that the number of national businesses that did drop out of the 
scheme be monitored.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) That the Locally Administered Business Rates Relief scheme, which would limit 
the increase in 2017/18 business rates bills to £600 for businesses with a 
Rateable Value of less than or equal to £100,000 be approved;

b) That delegated authority to the Section 151 Officer, in conjunction with the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance, to review and revise the scheme to ensure the 
Council maximises support to businesses to the extent of funding provided, 
including provision for exceptional hardship on individual cases, and to determine 
the level of relief for each year of the scheme, be approved.

DECISION

c) That the supporting Small Business Relief (SSBR) scheme, to be operated under 
the Council’s discretionary powers in line with government guidance be approved; 
and

Page 6



- 7 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

d) The Support for Pubs scheme, to be operated under the Council’s discretionary 
powers, in line with government guidance be approved.

(Other options considered:
 Award rate relief to ratepayers in proportion to the % increase in the amount of 

rates payable in 2017/18, after all reliefs have been applied and where the 
Rateable Value is less than or equal to £100,000;

 Limit the increase after all other reliefs have been applied, and with a Rateable 
Value less than or equal to £100,000, to 4%

Reasons for decision:
 The funding provided allows South Holland to provide a simple to understand 

scheme that provides support to ratepayers in 2017/18 who are facing 
increases in their rates bills because of revaluation, at the same time providing 
for a contingency in the fund which could be used to extend or expand the 
scheme, including case by case applications from businesses who as a direct 
result of the revaluation are facing hardship

 The delegation of authority will provide for an efficient review and revision 
process against scheme expenditure, and to determine the level of relief for 
2018/19 and future years subject to scheme funding in order to apply to 
annual bills;

 No business type or ratepayer will be excluded as it is recognised that both 
national and local businesses contribute to the prosperity and local 
employment within the district.)

10. DEBT MANAGEMENT AND WRITE OFF OPERATIONAL POLICIES 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder Finance and the 
Executive Director Commercialisation which sought approval for the Authority’s 
approach to debt management and write off.

The Write Off Operational Policy was attached as item 15 within the agenda, which 
was not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).   Members did not discuss the content of the appendix within the 
meeting and it was not therefore necessary to consider this item in private session.

<1>The Cabinet was not in agreement with the second recommendation regarding 
delegation for the CPBS Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits to write off debt for 
an individual debtor below £5,000, as it was of the opinion that all write-offs should be 
considered by the Cabinet.  It was pointed out that delegation to the S151 Officer was 
already in place and that the report was requesting that this be transferred to CPBS.  
Clarification of the current delegation detailed within the Constitution was sought on 
this point 

Members were advised that the Debt Management and Debt Write Off Operational 
Policies had been requested by the Cabinet at its meeting in January 2017.  The 
Debt Management Policy only included minor amendments from the previous 
version.  The Debt Write-Off Operational Policy was a new policy which gave clear 
guidance to officers on pre-recovery and possible enforcement action   It was agreed 

Page 7



- 8 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

that a mechanism to monitor the effectiveness of the processes detailed within the 
policy be devised, and that progress be reported in six months time.

DECISION:

a) That the Debt Management and Debt Write Off Operational Policies be agreed;

b) <2>That the effectiveness of the new Debt Write Off Operational Policies be 
monitored and results fed back in six months time; and

c) That delegation for the CPBS Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits to  
authorise the write off of debt below £5,000 for an individual debtor not be agreed, 
and that clarification around the current delegation to the S151 Officer be sought.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing

Reasons for Decision:
 Greater efficiency, consistency and assurance around debt management, and 

the identification of irrecoverable debt recommended for write off.
 Officer time maximised on greatest returns, at the same time as ensuring 

robust procedures for debt management are in place across all revenue 
streams.)

11. WELLAND HOMES - UPDATE TO BUSINESS PLAN 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder Finance and the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which sought agreement to put in place 
financial arrangements to enable Welland Homes Limited to purchase residential 
property at London Road, Long Sutton and to update the Welland Homes Business 
Plan. 

The London Road Financial Model and Scheme Evaluation (Appendix 1), Updated 
Welland Homes Limited Business Plan (Appendix 2) and Financial impact on the 
Council (Appendix 3) were attached as item 16 within the agenda, which was not for 
publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)). 
Members did not discuss the content of the appendices within the meeting and it was 
not therefore necessary to consider this item in private session.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) That the Capital Programme, approved by Council on 22 February 2017, be 
amended to reflect the amended programme set out in paragraph 5.2 of the 
report; and

b) That this amendment to the Welland Homes Interim Business Case be approved.

(Other options considered:

Page 8



- 9 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

 Do nothing – this would mean that the London Road scheme would not 
proceed which would limit the delivery of housing from Welland Homes under 
the existing business plan and leave the Company unable to deliver forecast 
returns.

Reasons for decision:
 Completion of the London Road Scheme was a key element of the Welland 

Homes Business Plan.)

12. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE URGENT. 

There were no urgent items.

13. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 
2 and 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

14. ESTABLISHMENT OF A SHARED GROWTH & COMMERCIALISATION 
DELIVERY UNIT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialisation, concerning the establishment of a Shared Growth 
and Commercialisation Delivery Unit to increase the delivery capacity of both 
Councils with regard to key strategic programmes of activity.

It was agreed that resources around project management was an important area 
moving forward, in order for the Authority to achieve its corporate growth programme.  
The process needed to be monitored closely over the forthcoming year, and the 
Performance Monitoring Panel would receive a report on the performance of the 
delivery unit once it had been set up.

Members also commented that it would be important to be aware of the  different, 
newer  ways of working by the new team, and existing officers of the Council, and 
that there were clearly defined protocols in this respect.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) <1>That the establishment of a new delivery unit, the proposed structure in 
respect of which was set out at section 1.5 and Appendix B, be approved; and

b) That the use of the Investment and Growth Reserve to support the cost of this unit 
be approved.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.

Page 9



- 10 -

CABINET - 25 July 2017

Reasons for decision:
 To enable the Council to drive delivery forward on areas of priority and to have 

access to the necessary expertise to facilitate delivery of land and property 
based projects.)

(The meeting ended at 11.06 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Tuesday 25 July 2017.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Wednesday 2 August 2017 (i.e. 
after the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), 
unless during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in 
relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel or any three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution is served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the 
decision be called-in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request 
for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 26 July 2017.

Page 10



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB PROJECT SUB-
COMMITTEE held in the Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 20 
July 2017 at 11.00 am.

PRESENT

M G Chandler (Chairman)
C N Worth (Vice-Chairman)
G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

Executive Director Commercialisation, Communications Manager, Programme 
Delivery Manager and Interim Strategic Projects Manager

In Attendance: Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Johnson, 
together with Chief Executive

Action By
1 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest.

2 PROGRESS REPORT ON OFFICE CO-LOCATION 
PROPOSALS AT PRIORY ROAD 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation on progress of Office Co-location proposals at 
Priory Road, seeking delegated authority to proceed with 
completion of the lease with the Department of Work and 
Pensions and to note the content of the report to approve the 
principle layout for the DWP area.

Interim Strategic Projects Manager introduced the report and 
gave an update on progress with the proposed co-location with 
Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) offices.

The designs of the plans had been frozen as far as DWP were 
concerned. They had changed slightly to what was within the 
report as reception would be slightly changing and more booths 
included. It was estimated that there were 3 to 4 weeks left on the 
design process.

DWP were due to have ministerial approval on whether they 
would be going ahead with the proposals by the week beginning 3 
July, but that had not happened. It was going through a full 
Business Case sign off and was currently delayed at the People 
and Location Board stage. This meant that the current 
programme would now not go ahead at the planned timescale. 
They were now looking to complete Phase 1 in time for Christmas 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 2 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 20 July 2017

and not start the second phase until after Christmas, with a 
proposed handover schedule for the end of March 2018, as this 
was the date they had to be out their current property Broadgate 
House.

The benefits of DWP re-locating were financially neutral but had 
long term benefits for future tenants as well as improved 
residents’ access to services.

An expression of interest had been drafted for local contractors to 
advertise within 3 to 4 weeks.

A further meeting at the end of July was due to take place with a 
view to pushing the proposal forward.

The Chairman asked for a building works programme to be 
drafted so things could progress as soon as dates were 
established. Information on how the public areas would be 
affected during the transition stage was also requested.

The Programme Delivery Manager advised that a 3 month lead 
time on alterations for Compass Point Business Services (CPBS) 
areas was required and would need to be mindful of any impact 
on annual billing for a proposed handover.

RECOMMENDATION:

1. That delegated authority was given to the Executive 
Director Commercialisation to proceed with completion of 
the lease with the Department of Work and Pension; and

2. That the content of the report was noted and the principle 
layout for the DWP area was approved.

3 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items.

4 TO CONSIDER RESOLVING THAT, UNDER SECTION 100A 
(4) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, THE PUBLIC 
BE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING 
ITEM OF BUSINESS ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT INVOLVES 
THE LIKELY DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS 
DEFINED IN PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A 
OF THE ACT. 

DECISION:

Page 12



- 3 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 20 July 2017

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs, 1, 3, 4 and 5 of part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

5 PROGRESS REPORT ON OFFICE CO-LOCATION 
PROPOSALS AT PRIORY ROAD 

The Committee considered Appendix 4 of the progress report on 
Office Co-Location proposals at Priory Road and the Interim 
Strategic Projects Manager outlined the following points:

The ten year lease with an option for a mutual break at the 5th 
anniversary was a standard government policy. 

The building had been re-measured  – the yellow areas on the 
plans would be leased and the blue areas shared. The blue areas 
would be leased on a reduced service charge level (50%) The 
service charge would be on an annual basis and was based on 
total floor area.

The rent would commence on date of occupation. Contribution 
costs from DWP amounted to £200K, which was nearly 60% of 
the total transformation costs.

A full time security guard would be needed under the terms of the 
lease and the proposal would be for DWP to pay 90% of the 
costs. If further security was needed, then it was proposed that 
DWP be totally responsible for those extra costs. The estimated 
cost of £55k was not presently built into budgets, but would be in 
the future.

The Committee considered access control and the proposal to 
have a magnetic control on the door at the back of the proposed 
DWP area.

The Chairman had spoken to Executive Manager Information 
regarding proximity readers for the car park, doors and printers. 
Quotes were currently being sought on this matter, which would 
be additional to the £350k budget already allocated.

All the access points into the Priory Road site were being looked 
at, with proposals to limit the public to only one entrance. The rear 
entrance from Vine Street car park was frequently used therefore 
an evidence based decision would be made whether to limit this 
to staff and deliveries only. Approval was given to close the main 

Page 13



- 4 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 20 July 2017

car park entrance to the public with access being limited to staff 
and deliveries only.

Current interest from other outside partnerships was encouraging 
and the position was outlined as follows:

 Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust proposal to 
have 4 hubs with up to 11 back office staff, waiting to 
arrange a meeting.

 Telephone conversations had taken place with Kevin 
Kendall, Property Officer, and Katie Gosling Programme 
Manager from Lincolnshire County Council– prior to a 
meeting scheduled for  2 August.  Looking into assets for 
Spalding and Holbeach, Ayscoughfee being a potential 
opportunity. Childrens Services could be relocated from the 
Vista site (up to 45 staff) Matthew Hogan and Paul Jackson 
would be invited to the meeting for their input. County 
Councillor Eddy Poll was liaising with the District Council in 
trying to positively move things forward between the two 
authorities. There was also a possibility in re-locating the 
registrars.

 Discussions had taken place with Boston’s Womens Aid 
who were currently housed within the CAB area of Priory 
Road. The Committee urged caution as to why they 
wanted to leave their current location within CAB. 

 
 Ministry of Justice – currently had two sites for their 

Probation Services at Broadgate House and in Boston, a 
proposed meeting within the next 3 weeks to ascertain 
their needs was scheduled. 

 South Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(SLCCG) currently had staff at a site in Market Deeping 
and initial discussions had taken place about the viability of 
moving them to Priory Road Council Offices. However this 
would not be progressing further at this stage. A positive 
outcome was reached in that SLCCG had advised SHDC 
that they were keen to discuss other opportunities that may 
be better suited, so discussions would be developed 
further to progress these ideas.

 Mental Health had enquired about locating 10 back office 
staff at the Council Offices so these discussions would now 
be developed further with a view of possible co-location by 
the end of the year. Members would be updated at a later 
stage.

Page 14



- 5 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 20 July 2017

The Executive Director Commercialisation was keen to start a 
modernisation programme for current staff at Priory Road to aid in 
the challenge of where to fit everyone.

Universal Credit would be launched in Spalding in  April 2018 
therefore CPBS would be busy during the period of change

A further update would be provided in September so a meeting 
would be tabled. 

(The meeting ended at 11.50 am)
(End of minutes)

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Place and Executive Director - Place

To: Cabinet, 19 September 2017
                       South Holland District Council, 20 September 2017

Authors:       Paul Jackson, Place Manager & Emily Spicer, Environmental Services 
Manager.

Subject          Pride in South Holland (including an update on untidy sites).

Purpose: To seek approval to establish formal arrangements to continue the Pride in 
South Holland programme for 2017/2018 and 2018/2019.  To provide an update 
on Untidy Sites and to advise Members of structural changes consequent 
upon the recent Place review.

Recommendations for Council:

1) That the contents of this report are noted.

2) That annual funds of up to £100,000 are released from the Council’s reserves to enable 
the continuation of the Pride in South Holland programme for 2017/2018 and 2018/2019.

3) That the Pride in South Holland programme is reviewed during 2018/2019 to consider 
whether to further extend the period of activity.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Councils key ambition remains to continue to increase the prosperity and the wellbeing 
of our residents whilst striving to protect and enhance our District’s unique and historic 
character.  A core component of this ambition is our priority to have pride in South Holland 
by supporting the District and residents to develop and thrive.  Indeed, ensuring our District 
is clean, safe and well-kept continues to be one of the Council’s highest priorities and it is 
important that we do all we can to ensure this priority is met.

1.2 The Corporate Plan highlights campaigns previously launched by the Council to involve 
local people in cleaning up their area, these including the ‘Litter Blitz’ and ‘Pride in South 
Holland’ campaigns.  Other initiatives have included the installation of additional bins in 
public areas and the achievement of faster clean-up times by the street cleansing teams.

1.3 In tandem, the Council has also undertaken work relating to ‘Untidy Sites and Land’ on the 
basis that the identified sites significantly and adversely impacted upon the character and 
appearance of their immediate and wider environment or the general well-being of the 
communities within which they were located.

1.4 Taken together this range of initiatives has achieved some notable successes.  It needs, 
however, to be acknowledged that there remains work to be done.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7.



1.5 It is also well worth reflecting on past challenges in order to better position the Council to 
deal with a range of on-going matters that, individually and collectively, affect the 
environment of our District and the wellbeing of our citizens.  It is equally worth taking stock 
of emerging challenges and reflecting on recent structural changes within the Place 
Directorate that seek to address these matters moving forward.

2.0 THE ‘PRIDE IN SOUTH HOLLAND’ INITIATIVE

2.1 In September 2014 Council approved the release of £100,000 from the Council’s reserves 
to invest in a clean-up programme targeting specific areas across the district called ‘Pride in 
South Holland’.  This programme comprised work over and above the day-to-day street 
cleansing, education and enforcement duties carried out by the Environmental Services 
team.

2.2 The initial programme of works established a series of ‘priority areas’ requiring attention, 
such as grot spots and untidy sites.  The ‘priority areas’ were themselves identified by 
Members in conjunction with officers.  A programme of works was produced, this 
accompanied by a communications plan.  The original ‘priority areas’ are listed at Appendix 
A below.

2.3 Operational work began in the week commencing 27th October 2014.  In the early weeks 
this was focussed on a clean-up of areas of Sutton Bridge and Holbeach in tandem with 
ensuring there was an increased presence in Spalding town centre on the Tuesday market 
day. An additional road sweeper was also hired in for the duration to target areas and 
ensure the consistent delivery of six monthly and annual cleansing cycles.

2.4 By 31st March 2015 works had been carried out in Sutton Bridge, Sutton St James, Long 
Sutton, Gedney, Fleet Hargate, Holbeach, Holbeach St Johns, Holbeach Drove, Moulton, 
Weston, Weston Hills, Spalding, Pinchbeck, West Pinchbeck, Crowland, Surfleet, 
Gosberton, Quadring, Donington and Deeping St Nicholas.  Works had also been 
undertaken to the lay-bys on those parts of the A16 and A17 that fall within South Holland.  
In addition, works were also undertaken within public open spaces and play areas District-
wide.

2.5 In March 2015 approval was given to continue the ‘Pride in South Holland’ programme for 
2015/16. The work plan was, as previously, co-ordinated, actioned and monitored by the 
Street Cleansing Supervisor assisted by 2 operatives.  A third operative worked principally 
in Spalding town centre and its surrounds.

2.6 The programme was additionally expanded to include a series of works on high profile 
sites. By way of example, the removal of graffiti and overgrown weeds from the former ‘Bull 
and Monkie’ public house site was actioned.  Dangerous play equipment was also removed 
from an abandoned (privately owned) play area in Crocus Walk, Spalding.

2.7 The successful completion of the 2015-16 programme led to Members endorsing funding 
for a continuation of the works programme associated with the ‘Pride in South Holland’ 
initiative in 2016-17.  The range of works undertaken by the team has been well received 
by residents and businesses and has received positive coverage in the Press.  A list of the 
primary works undertaken in 2016-17 is included below at Appendix B.  This list, whilst 
comprehensive is not exhaustive.

2.8 In addition to the street and environmental cleaning activities undertaken by the team, the 
budget associated with the ‘Pride in South Holland’ initiative has also facilitated an increase 

Page 18



in the range of enforcement activities undertaken by the Environmental Services teams.  
The hours of work undertaken by the Environmental Investigations Officer have been 
increased and overt cameras have been purchased.  This has enabled the service to 
actively pursue a greater number of cases involving fly-tipping and duty of care and has, as 
a direct consequence, resulted in an increasing number of successful prosecutions.  The 
Press coverage surrounding successful prosecutions has been positive and well received 
by the public.

2.9 In addition to the above, the team has widened its work to include liaison with local 
businesses in order to encourage a sense of pride in their surroundings.  Regular sweeping 
and the provision of litter-bins has been actively promoted.

2.10 Whilst the majority of the Pride in South Holland programme (£79,231) has fixed costs 
associated with staff, vehicles and equipment, part of the programme supports the ‘Untidy 
Sites’ initiative where clearance costs can be varied. As a consequence of this, budget 
efficiency’s from 2016/17 have enabled the Pride in South Holland programme to continue 
into 2017. 

3.0 SYNERGIES WITH THE NATIONAL ‘LITTER STRATEGY FOR ENGLAND’

3.1 In April 2017 the Government introduced the ‘Litter Strategy for England’ for 2017 to 2020. 
The strategy puts forward three defined areas of how the government will work with 
businesses and communities to reduce litter. The majority of these actions run in parallel to 
the work undertaken through the The Pride in South Holland programme. The 3 defined 
areas of the strategy are:  

a) Sending a clear message

 work with others to run a national anti-litter campaign
 help people to clear up litter in their local areas
 encourage young people to care about their local area
 make sure that schools have what they need to teach about litter
 encourage businesses to work with others to deal with local litter problems
 ask businesses to think about designing their products and packaging in ways 

which will reduce litter
 look for new ways to encourage more recycling and reducing litter

 b) Cleaning up the country

 work to reduce litter on the country’s major roads
 make it as easy as possible for people to get rid of their rubbish properly
 work with organisations to make sure they have the right facilities to get rid of litter
 help councils in deciding where bins should be placed, what types to use and how 

many are needed
 make sure the code of practice for litter and refuse is clear and up to date
 support and encourage people sharing their experience of what works to reduce 

littering.

Page 19



   c) Improving enforcement

 ask people if we should increase the fines for dropping litter (and for similar crimes 
like graffiti and putting up posters illegally)

 give local councils powers to fine vehicle owners if litter is thrown from it
 provide guidance to local authorities on using these powers appropriately

3.2 As part of the strategy the government is also to create a new way of monitoring how much 
litter there is in England as a method of assessing whether the strategy is working. Once 
this is available, the Pride in South Holland programme may utilise this method to provide 
further confirmation of its success.

4.0 UNTIDY SITES AND LAND

4.1 In October 2014, and in tandem with the above initiative, the Council embarked on a 
programme of works aimed at tackling sites that were significantly and adversely impacting 
upon the character and appearance of their immediate and wider environment or the 
general well-being of the communities within which they were located.  The onus, from the 
outset, was to seek to promote a co-ordinated approach to positive intervention on those 
sites which were having a major detrimental affect upon the character, appearance and 
well-being of the communities within which they were located.

4.2 The initial list of untidy and derelict sites and land was selected by Members and comprised 
of eight sites.  These were as follows:

1. The former Bull & Monkie PH, Spalding
2. The New Bridge Inn, Glenside South, West Pinchbeck
3. The Red Cow, Donington
4. The Bell PH, Church Street, Pinchbeck
5. 17 & 17A High Street, Holbeach
6. The former John Neal farm site, Bridge Road, Long Sutton
7. The former Butchers Shop, Bull Lane, Long Sutton
8. The former Royal Mail Sorting Office, Spalding

4.3 The list of selected sites was not considered exhaustive and Members were later invited, 
either through their own local knowledge or as a consequence of engagement with their 
Wards, to put forward other sites for consideration and future actions.  As a consequence, 
two further prominent sites were added to the list in January 2015.  These were:

9. Chatterton Water Tower, Spalding
10. The former Bridge Hotel, Sutton Bridge

4.4 Initially, officers undertook site investigations, sought to contact owners, undertook land 
registry searches and assessed the range of powers the Council had at its disposal to seek 
to regularise the impacts each of these 10 sites were having on their immediate or wider 
locale.  It was accepted from the outset that, as a Council, South Holland had limited direct 
control over privately owned land.  It was, nevertheless, important that the Council took 
seriously its role as custodian of standards and used all the powers it has its disposal to 
seek to address the adverse impacts each site was having on the community.

4.5 The sites themselves presented a wide range of issues of concern.  Each site is different 
from the other but the concerns generally centred on adverse impact on the built 

Page 20



environment or adverse consequence resulting in a degree of anti-social behaviour – or 
both.

4.6 In the context of the above it was readily understood, and widely accepted, that as a matter 
of good operational practice a wide variety of other generally smaller sites are routinely 
monitored through, for example, the planning process or are dealt with regularly by, in 
combination, environmental health, environmental services and/or building control. The 
parameters for the inclusion of sites within the Unsightly Sites and Land initiative was 
therefore based on an agreed understanding that individual sites were in such a state of 
unsightliness or dereliction, generally through long-term neglect, that they adversely impact 
on their surroundings by reasons of either their overall appearance or unmaintained status 
and are likely to become, or have become, unsafe or are attracting anti-social behaviour. 

4.7 To seek to address the wide-ranging concerns highlighted above delegated authority was 
granted to the Executive Director of Place to take any of the following actions, where 
appropriate:

a. Action under sections 79 and 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

b. Action under sections 76, 77 or 79 of the Building Act 1984 

c. Action under section 29 Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982 

d. Action under sections 215 or 225-225K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

e. Any powers in default that may exist and are associated with any of the above, 

including default works, imposing legal charges and realising legal charges relating 

to any costs 

f. Incurred in such default action. 

g. Acquisition of land by agreement in accordance with existing delegations. 

h. Commencement of a process of acquisition by use of powers of compulsory 

purchase, 

i. subject always to compliance with all legal requirements and all further approval that 

may 

j. Be required. 

k. Use of Empty Dwelling Management Orders under Part 4 Housing Act 2004

4.8 A wide range of work has been undertaken in relation to each of the 10 sites identified 
above.  Much of this work has been pro-active and based on positive negotiation with a 
willing (or subsequent) owner.  Some has been reactive and taken as a consequence of an 
unwillingness on the part of the owner to positively engage with the Council.  The outcomes 
have been varied and a number of sites continue to present problems.  Others have been 
resolved or are in the process of being resolved.  Further, additional sites have come to the 
attention of Members and officers that continue to present problems.

4.9 Considerable progress has been made on a number of the sites and there have been some 
notable successes.  Summary positions are presented below.  For the reasons outlined, 
below the following eight (8) sites can be removed from the original list of ten (10):

Site 2:  The New Bridge Inn, Glenside South, West Pinchbeck has been demolished in 
its entirety and the rubble cleared from site.  The problems associated with vandalism, 

Page 21



neglect, unauthorised access and anti-social behaviour have been resolved.  The building, 
once a significant detractor, is now long gone and the site fenced.  The owner has 
positively engaged with the Council and has periodically cleared the site of weeds.

Site 3:  The Red Cow, Donington changed hands in October 2015.  Planning permission 
and listed building consent was granted for extensive works in December 2016.  The works 
have not yet commenced and the site remains in a state of disrepair.  There has been 
significant progress made towards resolution and the site continues to be monitored by 
operational planning and environmental health.

Site 4:  The Bell PH, Church Street, Pinchbeck was secured and repeated instances of 
unauthorised access, vandalism and anti-social behaviour have largely been addressed.  
Planning permission for works of reinstatement was granted and the works commenced but 
remain incomplete.  The site continues to be monitored by operational planning and 
environmental health.

Site 5:  17 & 17A High Street, Holbeach have been shored up and problems formerly 
associated with structural failure have now been resolved.  The buildings remain in a less 
perilous condition as a consequence but still require improvement.  This will necessitate 
ongoing dialogue with operational planning.

Site 6:  The former John Neal farm site, Bridge Road, Long Sutton was, primarily, an 
overgrown parcel of land containing a number of unused buildings.  It does not currently 
present as problematic and continues to be monitored by operational planning.

Site 7:  The former Butchers Shop, Bull Lane, Long Sutton is boarded up.  There is 
presently no justification for serving formal notices and the site continues to be monitored 
by operational planning.

Site 9:  Chatterton Water Tower, Spalding has very recently been repainted.  Extremely 
constructive dialogue with Anglian Water resulted in extensive repainting works being 
carried out, the works themselves being brought forward by Anglian Water as part of their 
renewals and maintenance programme.  The freshly painted tower is expected to be 
unveiled shortly.

Site 10:  The former Bridge Hotel, Sutton Bridge has been partially demolished.  Efforts 
to list the building were unsuccessful as Historic Heritage did not consider the building to 
meet with listing criteria.  Permission was granted for demolition in June 2015 and the 
department currently has an application pending for redevelopment.  The current owner has 
working with the department to keep the site secure and vegetation under control but 
recently passed away.  The site continues to be monitored by operational planning and 
environmental health.

4.10 The remaining two sites remain of primary concern.  Considerable efforts have been made 
to progress matters on each.  The summary position is presented below:

Site 1:  The former Bull & Monkie PH, Spalding continues to present problems and 
matters remain unresolved.  Extensive efforts have been made to engage with the owners 
to no avail.  Works have been carried out periodically to secure the site and tidy the 
attendant land.  Problems of repeated entry and anti-social behaviour have largely been 
controlled but remain a concern.  Charges have been entered against the land relating to 
the costs of works undertaken in default by the Council and these remain recoverable.  
Legal advice has been taken with a view to enforcing the sale of the building.  This remains 
a matter before the courts.

Page 22



Site 8:  The former Royal Mail Sorting Office, Spalding continues to present problems.  
All efforts to engage with the owners have been met with silence.  The building is 
monitored, is periodically subject to vandalism, and has on occasion been boarded up at 
ground floor level to prevent unlawful entry and/or a hazard to the public. 

4.11 In summary, of the extended list of ten (10) sites 80% have been, or are in the process of 
being, resolved through successful or ongoing negotiation.  Two (2) sites remain 
problematic.  Site 1, the former Bull & Monkie continues to be pursued through court 
actions.  Site 8, the former Royal Mail Sorting Office remains a significant environmental 
detractor and is subject to intermittent vandalism.  Officers will continue to monitor the site 
but the unwillingness of the owner to engage with the Council presently means that future 
actions are somewhat constrained.  The site cannot be pursued through compulsory 
purchase proceedings in the absence of an approved scheme of redevelopment and the 
demonstration of monies to develop the scheme itself.  Officers continue to monitor the 
situation.

4.12 A number of other sites, some large and some smaller, have presented themselves over 
time as worthy of concerted effort.  In most instances these have been addressed and 
largely resolved through normal operational procedures.  One site, however, continues to 
present problems and that is the former Bull Hotel in Long Sutton.  The situation with this 
site is particularly complicated, involves unimplemented and unimplementable permissions 
by dint of multiple ownerships, and is further complicated by financial matters.  Officers 
continue to work with ward members and the local community to address these concerns 
but it is accepted that the site remains problematic and vulnerable to unlawful entry, anti-
social behaviour and further neglect.   The position on this site somewhat mirrors the former 
Red Cow in Donington and it hoped that a change of ownership could act as the stimulus to 
future positive intervention.

5.0 PLACE REVIEW

5.1 Members will be aware that strutural changes to working arrangements withint he Place 
Directorate are to be introduced as a consequence of the recent service review.  This 
review has focussed on Environmental Services, Housing and Community Services.  As 
part and parcel of the restructred services, and key to its implementations, some of the 
enforcement functions carried out by the wider Council have been brought together.  A 
dedicated Anti-Social Behaviour team has been created within the Community Services 
functions which for the first time brings together a range of compliance and enforcement 
professional skills. 

5.2      Later this year the Directorate will be bringing forward proposals for a realisgnment of the 
operational planning (Development Management) service.  This presents the opportunity to 
look at creating greater synergy with a wider range of the Council’s enforcement processes 
and it is anticipated that, operationally, planning enforcement and the Community Services 
Anti-Social Behaviour team will develop closer working relationships that seek to bring a 
variety of the Councils enforcement arms under one umbrella.

5.3   Members will be appraised of developments later in the year but it is worth noting the 
above initiatives have highlighted that the successful integration of a range of the Council’s 
enforcement powers is often key to a successful outcome.

Page 23



6.0 CONCLUSIONS 

6.1 The Pride in South Holland programme and Untidy Sites and Land initiative are 
instrumental in achieving the Council’s Priorities to enable the district to develop and thrive. 
Whilst providing a programme of cleansing activity, the flexibility of the Pride in South 
Holland programme and associated budget supports Untidy Sites that need priority 
attention and emerging issues. 

7.0 OPTIONS

            Option 1

To provide up to £100,000 funding in both 2017/2018 and 2018/2019 to enable the success 
of the Pride in South Holland project to continue. The funding will provide for additional 
legislative prevention work, a hit squad of three operatives, an appropriate vehicle and 
equipment and ability to proactively take appropriate action in respect to ‘untidy sites’.   

              Option 3

To cease funding the Pride in South Holland programme.  

8.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

8.1 The Pride in South Holland programme will continue to provide a proactive focus in order to 
improve the cleanliness and visual quality of the public spaces within South Holland. This 
meets the corporate priority ‘To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and 
residents to develop and thrive’ whilst supporting the national ‘Litter Strategy’. 

9.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

9.1 The Pride in South Holland programme was originally introduced to offer an additional, 
more flexible service that enhanced the appearance of public spaces in South Holland in a 
proactive manner. Continuation of the programme will realise the following benefits:

 Increased customer satisfaction of the quality of public spaces.
 Greater use of public open spaces, 
 Decrease in the number of complaints regarding grot spots and areas that do not 

meet expectation.
 Continued positive publicity of the programme.
 Increasing the number of ways members of the public can have ‘Pride in South 

Holland’. 

10.0 IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

Page 24



10.2 The Pride in South Holland programme is mindful to utilise its carbon footprint in the most 
efficient manner. Tasks within the programme will target areas so as to reduce the number 
of journeys associated with that work. All actions within the programme will have a positive 
effect on the environment.  

10.3 Constitutional & Legal

10.4 The recommendations outlined in this report will be determined at Cabinet and Council in 
line with the Councils constitution.

10.5 Corporate Priorities

10.6 The recommendations of this report contribute to the following corporate priorities; 

‘To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 
and thrive’ 

 To improve the quality of public open spaces in making them cleaner, greener and 
safer

‘To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way’

 Ensuring that Council services are accessible, customer friendly and responsive 
to residents and business needs. 

10.7 Financial

10.8 The Pride in South Holland programme will follow a fixed revenue spend (staffing, fuel and 
equipment). This is detailed in the below table. A further proportion of the budget can be 
utilised to proactively action issues within the ‘untidy sites’ envelope. 

A summary of fixed revenue spend is detailed below:

2016/17 Outturn

Staff £73,238
Fuel £146

Tyres £260
Maintenance £660

Supplies & 
Services £4,927

Total £79,231

A budget of £20,000 to be made available for the Untidy Sites and Land initiative. 

Page 25



10.9 Health & Wellbeing

10.10 Improving the quality of public open spaces will encourage residents to utilise these to the 
benefit of their health and wellbeing. 

10.11 Reputation

10.12 Improving the quality of the street scene and open spaces in South Holland will improve 
reputation and demonstrate that the Council strives for South Holland to be a place to live, 
work and socialise. 

10.13 Risk Management

10.14 There are not considered to be any adverse implications on risk management from the 
recommendations set out in this report.

10.15 Staffing

10.16 The existing staff within Environmental Services will provide support to the project with the 
operatives themselves sourced through a local agency.

11.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

11.1 All wards and communities will benefit from this programme. 

Lead Contact Officers

Name and Post: Paul Jackson, Place Manager and Emily Spicer, Environmental 
Services Manager

Telephone Number
Email: paul.jackson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk, emily.spicer@breckland-

sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Original Priority Areas
Appendix B Primary Works Undertaken

Page 26



Appendix A Original Priority Areas

Spalding

 Town centre and alleyways 

 Abbey Path 

 Abbey Passage 

 Butter Market 

 Bus station and Sainsbury’s walkway 

 Stepping Stone bridge 

 Footpath behind Spalding hospital 

 South Holland Centre area

 Toilets 

 Gore Lane car park 

 Winsover Road 

 Bourne Road 

 Holbeach Road 

 Holbeach Road Fulney Skate Park

Holbeach 

 Underpass 

 Town centre 

 Toilets 

 Albert Street 

 Church Walk 

 Cross Street 

 Barrington Gate 

 Battlefield Lane South

Page 27



Fleet Hargate

 Fleet Road 

 Old Main Road 

 Bus stop 

 Footpath from Cherry Lane to Little Marsh Lane/Fleet Road

Gedney

 Area in front of old Black Bull pub 

 Footpath to bus stop along A17 

 Bus shelter

Long Sutton

 McDonalds to bridge 

 Seagate Road car park area 

 Footpath from Lancaster Drive to town centre 

 Market Street 

 London Road 

 Toilets 

 Town Centre 

 Car Park on West Street

Page 28



Appendix B – Work Undertaken

Sutton Bridge

 Frankies Café to Swing Bridge – de litter including back edges and around furniture
 Lay bys – de litter and fly tip clearance 
 Allenby Chase – de litter area
 Curlew Centre (near) – replaced liners to two litter bins
 Custom House Street de litter
 Lime Street – de litter
 Toilets – additional cleaning

Community Payback engaged

 Custom House Street, Lime Street and Bridge Hotel area – de litter
 De litter Queen Street, King Street, Princes Street area including garage and park.

Sutton St James

 Village hall recycling bank area, shop area and Bell Lane (school) – de litter 
 Mechanical sweep of village

Long Sutton

 McDonalds roundabout to Pop Bottle Bridge – de litter
 Spar Shop area – cleared back edges/steps
 Seagate Road Car Park – de litter
 Lancaster Drive to Town Centre Footpath – de litter, weeded, sweep and back edges 

cleared  
 Market Street and London Road footpaths – swept
 Toilets – additional cleaning
 Seagate Terrace - weeded

Community Payback

 De litter and sweep Town Centre and West Street (including car park)

Gedney

 Grassed area to front of the Old Black Bull pub – de litter
 A17 footpath to bus stop – cleared footpath and area around bus stop

Fleet Hargate

 Fleet Road and Old Main Road – de litter and back edges cleared
 Bus shelter – swept out
 Cherry Lane to Little Marsh Lane to Fleet Road footpath - cleared 
 East Gate to Burgess Drive footpath – cleared
 Footpath by Church – cleared (identified by Cllr. Coupland)
 Footpath near School – cleared (identified by Cllr. Coupland)

Page 29



Holbeach

 Underpass – de litter, walls jet washed to remove graffiti and bushes trimmed back
 Penny Hill Road (both sides) cycle path – litter and leaves cleared
 Park Road Car Park – de litter and tidy
 Spalding Road – de litter
 Back Lane (including walkway to West End) – swept
 Marshlands Drive area – de litter
 Battlefield Lane South – de litter
 Kennedy Road turning area – deep cleanse, moss removal
 Barrington Gate to Farrow Avenue passage – also hoed/strimmed 
 A17 to Holbeach Hospital footpath – cleared
 Toilets – deep cleanse and graffiti removal

 Community Payback engaged to clear back edges of;
o Albert Street
o Church Walk
o Cross Street,
o Barrington Gate

Holbeach St Johns

 Mechanical sweep of village

Holbeach Drove

 Bottle Bank area – de litter
 Mechanical sweep of village

Moulton

 De litter and clear back edges to;
o Bell Lane
o High Street
o Station Road
o In front of Doctors/West Cob Gate

Weston

 De litter and clear back edges to;
o High Road
o Church area
o Shop area
o Lay by opposite Lingarden
o Small Drove
o Delgate Avenue
o Broad Gate / High Road junction

Weston Hills

 Mechanical sweep of village

Page 30



Spalding

 De litter and cleaning of;
o Abbey Path
o Abbey Passage
o Butter Market
o Steppingstone Walk
o Stepping Stones Bridge
o Gore Lane Car Park
o Footpath to rear and beyond new Johnson Hospital
o Enterprise Way
o Green Lane footbridge area
o Park Close
o Park Road
o Penny gate
o Bus Station
o St Thomas Road
o Haverfield Road
o Spring Gardens
o Winsover Road
o Bourne Road
o Ayscoughfee Garden frontage
o Cowbit Road
o London Road
o Double Street (including alleys to River Walk)
o Albion Street
o Holbeach Road
o Commercial Road
o High Street
o Sandringham Walk garage area
o Bratleys Walk
o Green Lane/St Johns Road footbridge area
o Castle Sports BMX hedge and ditch area
o Swimming pool area
o Low Road waste land (adjacent The Birds pub) 
o Victoria Street car park
o Holland Road car park
o Vine Street car park
o Willow Walk passage to Albert Street – ivy removed
o Ash Court passageway to St Pauls Road – also weeded
o Wlllesby Road – also foliage cut back
o South Drove gravel heap
o Enterprise Way to Pinchbeck Road passage
o Royce Road estate
o Queens Road
o Roman Bank, Lansdown Court
o Bratley Walk
o Wygate Park and play area
o Welland Close
o Grovesnor Court
o West Elloe Avenue

Page 31



 Toilets
o extra cleans on Market Days
o graffiti removed from doors and walls

 Town Centre litter bins
o additional emptying on Market Day

 Community Payback engaged to de litter 

o Gore Lane car park
o Winsover Road 
o Bourne Road 
o Holbeach Road 
o Green Lane/Cross Street/Henriette Street/Havelock Street area 
o

Pinchbeck

 Knight Street to School footpath – de litter and sweep
 Village litter bins – cleaned
 Poachers Gate walkway – de litter, cleanse and bushes cut back (identified by Cllr. Sneath)

West Pinchbeck

 Mechanical sweep of village

Crowland

 Four days mechanical sweeping throughout the town

Surfleet

 Mechanical sweep of village
 Checked litter bins

Gosberton

 Main Road – de litter
 Checked litter bins
 Mechanical sweep of village

Quadring

 Main Road – de litter
 Checked litter bins
 Mechanical sweep of village

Donington

 Five days mechanical sweeping throughout village

Deeping St Nicholas

 Mechanical sweeping of;
o Main Road
o Haywain

Page 32



o Chappell Road
o Hay Barn Road
o Harrow Road

A16

 Low Road – de litter and sweep

A17 Lay-bys

 De litter and cleanse all lay-bys

Mechanical Sweeper Weights

 (December 2014 – April 2015) 366 tonnes 

Play Areas

The following play areas were re-painted

o Chalk Lane, Sutton Bridge
o Railway Lane, Sutton Bridge
o Kingfisher Drive, Surfleet
o Casswell Drive, Quadring
o Goodfellows, Spalding Common
o Thames Road, Spalding
o Fern Park, Spalding
o Park Close, Spalding
o Pennyfields, Pinchbeck

Page 33



Before and after Photographs

Hallgate Holbeach

Page 34



Withington Street / Granville Terrace Sutton Bridge 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Nick Worth, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder 
for Growth and Commercialism

To: Cabinet – 19 September 2017
Council – 20 September 2017

Author: Paul Jackson, Place Manager

Subject: Delivering Spalding’s Western Relief Road (SWRR)

Purpose: To update Members on progress and a series of key workstreams relating 
to the delivery of Spalding’s Western Road.

Recommendations to Councilt: 

1) That Members note and endorse the strategic direction, key milestones and delivery strategy 
for Spalding’s Western Relief Road (SWRR) outlined in this report;

2) That the Place Manager brings further reports to Council, as appropriate, in order to update 
Members on progress; and 

3) That the Place Manager, in conjunction with both the Portfolio Holder for Growth and 
Commercialisation and the Executive Director of Commercialisation, continues to work with 
the County Council and key partners to ensure the delivery strategy for the SWRR meshes 
with the Council’s key growth and infrastructure ambitions.

1.0 Background

1.1 The delivery of Spalding’s Western Relief Road (SWRR) is a fundamental cornerstone to 
two of the Council’s principal ambitions, namely:

  significant planned growth of the wider town; and

   managing traffic and easing congestion by providing an alternative route to the 
congested A151 which passes through the centre of town and which is subject to 
increasing delay’s resulting from level crossing ‘downtime’.

1.2 As the main urban centre in South Holland, Spalding has experienced major growth since 
the latter part of the twentieth century.  More modern housing, retail and business 
environments have extended the footprint of the urban area, mainly to the north and west. 
The development of the A16 through to Peterborough as well as rail connections has 
brought Spalding within the scope of the south-east of the country and employment 
opportunities well beyond South Holland.  Spalding also serves the wider area as regards 
further education opportunities and health care.

1.3 The population of South Holland District rose from 76,512 in 2001 to 88,270 in 2011, a 
growth rate of over 14%.  In the last 10 years this rate of growth has slightly slowed to 
12.5%.  The mid-year population estimate for 2015 stands at 90,400.  The Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) projects a growth rate for the District of nearer 22 per cent 
between 2012 and 2037, meaning that the overall population of the District will rise by a 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8.



quarter.  Much of this population growth will continue to be focussed on Spalding as the 
main urban and sub-regional centre.

1.4 The population of Spalding was estimated at 30,724 in 2017.  This rises to nearly 33,000 
including Pinchbeck to the north.  The emerging South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(SELLP) makes provision for a net increase of 11,125 dwellings in South Holland over the 
plan period (2011-2036) at a rate of 445 per annum.  Much of this growth will be focused 
on delivering an additional 5,255 new dwellings in Spalding.

1.5 Spalding’s planned growth is largely focussed to the north and west of the town, primarily 
as a consequence of seeking to deliver the SWRR and flood risk.  The long-term strategy 
has therefore focussed on delivering sustainable planned growth predicated on an 
understanding of the way the town functions, its existing transport network, planned 
network upgrades and the wider delivery of a strategic road network to fit with existing 
constraints and future infrastructure needs.

1.6 The emerging SELLP 2011-36 was submitted to the Secretary of State on 23 June 2017.  
It is now in its ‘examination’ stage.  The SELLP identifies sites capable of delivering 1,920 
new houses within Spalding on sites totalling 64 hectares.  Some 1,000 of these dwellings 
form part of a proposed second sustainable urban on land located to the north of the 
Vernatt’s Drain (the ‘Vernatt’s sustainable urban extension’).  In total, this site is capable 
of providing approximately 4,000 dwellings and associated infrastructure (with the 
additional 3,000 dwellings currently earmarked for development beyond 2036).  This is in 
addition to the existing sustainable urban extension located at Holland Park.  The Holland 
Park site is currently under construction and has permission for 2,250 new dwellings and 
associated infrastructure.  These sites are all shown at Appendix One.  They are readily 
identified as being clustered to the west of Spalding and are intentionally focussed on the 
route of the proposed Spalding Western Relief Road (SWRR).

2.0 The role of the Spalding Western Relief Road

2.1 The Spalding Western Relief Road will provide a new route around the west side of the 
town, linking Spalding Common in the south to Spalding Road/Pinchbeck Road in the 
north.  In highways terms the SWRR will function as a strategic distributor road.

2.2 Given its overarching strategic role, the long standing approach to delivering the SWRR 
has been one of understanding that the key aim has been to ensure that, as a strategic 
distributor road, the SWRR;

‘supports and facilitates sustainable population and commercial growth within 
South Holland’

2.3 In tandem, the SWRR has the over-arching aim of delivering significant benefits to the 
wider town and surrounding District.  It will;

 Reduce delays and improve journey times for road users
 Lessen the impact of increased freight passing through Spalding and the associated 

increase in level crossing barrier downtime
 Reduce traffic congestion in Spalding town centre
 Enhance connectivity by improving west to south links around Spalding
 Enhance quality of life for residents of Spalding by improving air quality, reducing 

carbon emissions and addressing issues of town centre safety
 Improve the reliability of public transport by minimising delays in the town centre

Page 38



 Support and encourage walking and cycling by reducing town centre traffic and 
providing safe links

2.4 This aim and these benefits have long been recognised and are embedded into the local 
planning framework.  This has enabled the development of an emerging policy framework 
that meshes with wider political ambitions, both locally and County-wide, and has provided 
a coherent approach to governance arrangements surrounding delivery of the SWRR.

3.0 The Route of the Spalding Western Relief Road

3.1 The SWRR will, in essence, provide a route to the west of Spalding which runs from south 
to north.  To the south it will connect, via a new roundabout, to the B1172 Spalding 
Common.  At the northernmost end it will, again via a new roundabout, provide a 
connection to the B1356 Spalding/Pinchbeck Road.

3.2 The ‘southern’ and ‘northern’ connections with Spalding’s existing highways infrastructure 
are essentially fixed.  The whole of the SWRR will be delivered in a series of sections, 
these co-ordinated with the longer-term growth of the town.  The detail of the precise route 
of the SWRR has yet, in part, to be finalised.  The present indicative proposals for the 
whole are illustrated in Appendices Two and Three.

3.3 Appendix Two details Option 1.  This option presents a route for the SWRR following an 
eastern alignment, generally closer to town.  Appendix Three details Option 2.  This 
option presents a western alignment.  The western alignment presents the better option in 
terms of accommodating future growth and facilitating access into development sites.  It 
also presents the better opportunity to secure funding from associated development.  At 
this stage, however, no formal decisions have been made on the precise alignment of the 
central sections to the SWRR, i.e. that section stretching from Holland Park to the south 
(Junction B) to north of the Vernatt’s Drain (Junction E).  The options presented in 
Appendices Two and Three reflect the protected route corridor identified in the emerging 
SELLP.  Until such time as these options have been the subject of detailed analysis, 
formal consultation and stakeholder engagement both options remain on the table.  In this 
context it needs to be understood that, at the present time, the ‘fixed’ elements to the 
route of the SWRR comprise the ‘southern’ section running through Holland Park and the 
‘northern’ section running north of the Vernatt’s Drain and culminating at a roundabout on 
the B1356 Spalding/Pinchbeck Road.

4.0 The component parts of the SWRR

4.1 The Council is working in direct partnership with both the County Council and 
landowners/developers to deliver the SWRR in a series of sections, these designed to 
mesh with the towns wider growth ambitions whilst at the same time providing for 
measures which reduce congestion, improve and enhance connectivity, minimise delays 
within the town centre and encourage walking and cycling.

4.2 There are effectively five sections to delivering the full route of the SWRR.  These are:

Section 1 - Spalding Common to Holland Park
Section 2 - Holland Park to Bourne Road
Section 3 - Bourne Road to North of Vernatt’s Drain
Section 4 - North of Vernatt’s Drain
Section  5 – North of Vernatt’s Drain to Spalding Road

4.3 These five distinct sections are indicatively shown at Appendices Two and Three.  Each 
details a series of roundabouts and/or traffic-light managed junctions labelled A through to 

Page 39



H.  The component parts of the SWRR can be readily identified in relation to the proposed 
roundabouts and junctions.  Appendices Two and Three clarify that Section 1, the 
southernmost section, runs from roundabouts A to B.  Section 2 links B to C.  Section 3 
runs from C to E.  Section 4 links E to H. Section 5, the northernmost section, links H to I.

5.0 The Spalding Transport Strategy

5.1 The Spalding Transport Strategy 2014-2016 (STS) was finalised in September 2014 and 
developed jointly by Lincolnshire County Council’s Highways Alliance and South Holland 
District Council (SHDC).  At its heart the STS is a strategy that aims to identify how 
transport and travel in the area should develop over the next twenty years.  The STS 
provides an approach to the improvement and provision of transport and access for 
Spalding and its surrounding area, including the delivery of the Spalding Western Relief 
Road (SWRR).  It was prepared with a view to addressing existing issues and supporting 
proposals for significant growth in the town in the short, medium and long term.   From the 
outset the STS was developed in close cooperation with Lincolnshire County Council 
(LCC), SHDC and other key stakeholders, and through wider public engagement. The 
adoption of this approach at an early stage was intended to ensure that the STS would 
complement and support other local and national policies, including the then emerging 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan.

5.2 The STS highlights the importance of the proposed SWRR, which will link the B1172 
(Spalding Common), in the south-west of the town to the B1356 (Spalding Road) in the 
north. This road scheme is an integral part of the 4th Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan 

(LTP4) and is identified as one of four key major schemes within Lincolnshire in the short 
to medium term.  LCC, as the local highway authority, recognises the SWRR as playing a 
strategic role in opening-up development sites including the Holland Park Sustainable 
Urban Extension (SUE), the Vernatt’s SUE, and other major sites to the west of Spalding; 
and in providing an alternative route to the congested A151 which passes through the 
centre of Spalding and is subject to increasing delays resulting from level-crossing 
‘downtime’.

6.0 Policy background and planning position

6.1 The South Holland Local Plan 2006 allocated 85 hectares of land in the form of an urban 
extension, Holland Park, this located to the south and west of Spalding.  This allocation 
deliberately included a policy-protected and safeguarded route for the delivery of the first 
section of the SWRR.

6.2 Outline planning permission was granted for the Holland Park sustainable urban extension 
in 2011.  The permission itself consented to some 2,250 dwellings, a district centre, 2 
local centres, a primary school, public open space, access and estate roads on land 
known as Holland Park on 18 May 2012.  The permission was also subject to a legal 
agreement which secures the phased delivery of the following in tandem with the delivery 
of the whole:

a) two number low-floor, easy access and DDA compliant buses together with revenue 
support for those buses for a period of three years.

b) a Two-Form Entry Primary School;
c) a Community Building within the District Centre and the subsequent hand-over of this 

building when complete to South Holland District Council
d) the provision, equipping and ongoing maintenance of all areas of open space and 

play space, including the open space associated with the SUDS system;
e) a capital sum of £100,000 for external improvements to the historic fabric to 

Spalding’s historic town centre;

Page 40



f) the first section of Spalding’s Western Relief Road, this including a bridge over 
Spalding Peterborough Railway line, and the Primary Street linking the relief road to 
The Broadway.

g) traffic calming measures on The Parkway.
h) integrated primary and social care services in the form of the Health Centre (shown to 

be located within the District Centre) and the extra care facilities (shown to located 
within the northern Local Centre).

6.3 It is notable that the delivery of the first section of the SWRR is embedded within this 
scheme, and the attendant legal agreement, and is required to be delivered in tandem 
with it.

6.4 In 2014, reserved matters approval was given for Phase 1 to the Holland Park SUE.  
Phase 1 relates to the northern neighbourhood and comprises;

‘312 dwellings, including associated infrastructure and public open space’

6.5 Phase 1 to the Holland Park Sue has been implemented.  The developers, Broadgate 
Homes, are on site and to date 30 new dwellings have been delivered.  A further 99 have 
been commenced and are presently under construction.

6.6 The attendant legal agreement and planning condition set include a series of triggers for 
the delivery of the first section of the SWRR.  In essence, construction of the first section 
of the SWRR is required to commence before the occupation of either the 101st dwelling 
accessed from the B1172 Spalding Common (to the south of the site) or the 501st dwelling 
accessed from Broadway (to the north).  These triggers were agreed in direct consultation 
with the County Council as highways authority.

7.0 Phasing of the SWRR

7.1 Given the complexity of delivering a relief road to the west of Spalding it has long been 
anticipated that the SWRR would be built in sections.  These ‘phased’ sections have been 
highlighted at section 4.2 above.

7.2 Section 1

7.3 Section 1, the ‘southern’ section, will be constructed in tandem with the Holland Park 
SUE.  As has been highlighted earlier, Holland Park is currently under construction.  It is a 
significant development comprising 2,250 new dwellings.  The ‘southern’ section to the 
SWRR has been developed in detail.  It includes a 3-arm roundabout (Junction A) at 
B1172 Littleworth Drove/Spalding Common and incorporates an overbridge spanning the 
rail line.  This section extends the highway through the Holland Park development, 
terminating at a second roundabout, this providing direct connection to Section 2.  Section 
1 is also linked back into the wider Holland Park scheme via roundabout Junction B.  
Once completed, Section 1 will not only provide access to the Holland Park development.  
It will also facilitate direct access into the town centre, enabling Section 1 to the SWRR to 
provide additional highways capacity and the ability to act as a short-term solution to 
traffic management within the wider town.

7.4 In line with the wider ambitions of the SWRR and STS, the Holland Park SUE includes a 
series of footpaths and cycleways.  These are integral to the scheme and seek to 
integrate the development itself with the wider town, embedding and encouraging modal 
split.  Busses and bus routes are also fully integrated within the scheme.

Page 41



7.5 As construction on the wider Holland Park SUE is well underway it is anticipated that the 
‘southern’ section will be the first section of the SWRR to be constructed.

7.6 Section 2

7.7 Section 2 runs from Junction B through to the Junction C on the A151 Bourne Road, 
intersecting with it at roundabout R5.   No junction is planned at Horseshoe Road, to avoid 
traffic being attracted onto this lower standard road.

7.8 Section 3

7.9 Section 3 runs from the A151 Bourne Road (Junction C) spanning the Vernatt’s Drain via 
a low profile overbridge.  It would terminate immediately to the south of Junction E which 
will provide access to the western end of the Vernatt’s Sustainable Urban Extension.  A 
link will be provided south of Vernatt’s Drain between SWRR and Monks House Lane via 
Junction D.

7.10 Section 4

7.11 Section 4 runs from Junctiion E to the west of Junction H.  It would provide a direct 
connection to Section 5 (below) and thereafter the second overbridge spanning the main 
rail line.  Section 4 releases all of that land allocated within the emerging SELLP for 
residential development and has the capacity to deliver 4,000 new homes and has two 
intermediate junctions, F and G, to provide additional accesses to these sites.

7.12 It needs to be acknowledged that, at this stage, the detailed routes taken by Section 2, 3 
and 4 are yet to be determined.  These sections will provide the link between the much 
more advanced ‘northern’ and ‘southern’ sections to the SWRR and will, together, provide 
the SWRR in its entirety.  At this stage, and as the precise route of the SWRR between 
junction E (land north of the Vernatts) and junction B (Holland Park) remains to be 
defined, this area is highlighted within the emerging SELLP as a ‘safeguarded corridor’.  
Having said that, and in the interests of transparency, it is highly probable that within the 
‘safeguarded corridor’ a route located further to the west than the east is much more likely 
to both deliver the towns wider growth ambitions and meet with its developing transport 
infrastructure needs.

7.13 Section 5

7.14 Section 5, the ‘northern’ section, has also been developed in detail.  It includes a 5-arm 
roundabout (Junction I) connecting with the B1356 Spalding Road/Pinchbeck Road.  From 
this roundabout it will run alongside the Vernatt’s Drain to a second overbridge spanning 
the same rail line as Section 1.  The highway will extend from the overbridge to Junction 
H.  The 5-arm roundabout junction on the B1356 will serve:

 the B1356 to the north;
 the B1356 to the south;
 the SWRR and development to the west via a bridge crossing the mainline;
 development fronting onto the B1356; and
 Endeavour Way and existing development to the east

7.15 This section will release land identified within the emerging SELLP.  In the initial phases 
land located both fronting the B1356 itself will be released via a spur from Junction I and 
land beyond the overbridge via Junction H.

Page 42



7.16 Subject to funding arrangements being in place it is anticipated that the ‘northern’ section 
of the SWRR will be constructed to a similar timeline as the ‘southern’ section.  Delivery 
timescales are considered below but there is every expectation at this stage that Section 1 
and 5 will follow similar delivery paths.

8.0 Governance Arrangements

8.1 Work on the development of the detail of the component parts of the SWRR has hitherto 
been overseen by the Spalding Western Relief Road Steering Group (the Steering 
Group).  The Steering Group is facilitated by Lincolnshire County Council highways 
department and incorporates officers from both the County and District Councils.  Given 
the overarching strategic nature of the SWRR the Steering Group has in the past had both 
a senior officer and a technical officer focus.  At County level the senior officers include 
Andy Gutherson, the County Commissioner for Economy and Place and Sam Edwards, 
County’s Senior Project Leader.  Your Place Manager represents the District Council.  
Technical officers comprise Policy representatives from each authority and highways 
engineers.

8.2 The Steering Group recognises that the basic purpose of the SWRR is to:

 support and facilitate sustainable population and commercial growth in and around 
Spalding;

 mitigate the impact of the expected increase in level-crossing barrier downtime in 
Spalding resulting from increased rail-freight traffic passing through the town;

 reduce traffic congestion in Spalding town centre; and
 enhance connectivity by improving west to south links around Spalding’.

8.3 The role of the Steering Group is to co-ordinate the various workstreams surrounding 
delivery of the SWRR.  The Steering Group’s work encompasses strategic delivery, public 
engagement, the development of technical detail and oversight of the financial 
arrangements surrounding delivery.  It also actively engages with landowners and 
developers in order to facilitate the delivery of the components part of the SWRR.

8.4 Additional governance arrangements are in place to ensure policy development, political 
leadership and wider public engagement.

8.5 The emerging South East Lincolnshire Local Plan will deliver a spatial planning framework 
for south-east Lincolnshire.  Its governance arrangements include a Committee Structure, 
a joint Steering Group and an officer cohort.  The Joint Strategic Planning Committee 
(JSPC) is made up of 9 councillors, 3 each from South Holland District, Boston Borough 
and Lincolnshire County Councils.  Each has equal voting rights.  The joint Steering 
Group comprises representatives of the same in equal measure and draws on officer 
support from both Districts and the County.  The officer cohort supporting the Committee’s 
work comprises a team of officers drawn from South Holland and Boston Borough 
Councils.  This team is known as the South East Lincolnshire Joint Policy Unit (JPU).

8.6 Finally, the Spalding Western Relief Road Executive Management Board (the ‘Board’) 
provides high-level political commitment and officer leadership to coordinating the various 
partnerships and workstreams associated with delivering the SWRR.  The Board 
comprises:

 Councillor Richard Davies- Executive Councillor for Highways, Transport and 
Information Technology, Lincolnshire County Council

Page 43



 Councillor Nick Worth -  Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialism, South Holland District Council and Executive 
Councillor for Culture and Emergency Services, Lincolnshire County Council

 Andy Gutherson - County Commissioner for Economy and Place, Lincolnshire 
County Council

 Paul Jackson - Place Manager, South Holland District Council
 Paul Rusted – Infrastructure Commissioner, Lincolnshire County Council
 Sam Edwards – Senior Project Leader, Lincolnshire County Council
 Peter Ramsey – Divisional Manager, WSP Transport & Infrastructure

8.7 The Board provides political governance, commitment and overall direction to the delivery 
of the SWRR through direct project management.  It cements the partnership between the 
County and District Councils and provides coherence to the development of policy, 
funding arrangement, bid processes and the co-ordination of the various strands of the 
planning processes.  The Board’s next meeting is scheduled to take place on 21 
November 2017.

8.8 It is demonstrable that Lincolnshire County Council is working in direct partnership with 
South Holland District Council on a number of workstreams, all of which are focused on 
meeting with Spalding’s wider ambitions for growth and transport management.  This 
partnership is a mature one that is recognised by both developers and the wider public for 
its commitment to securing the phased delivery of the SWRR.

9.0 Funding Arrangements

9.1 As central government funding is not presently available to deliver schemes such as the 
SWRR it has, from inception, been envisaged that contributions from development will 
remain the primary source of the funding necessary to deliver a relief road to the west of 
Spalding.  Other sources of funding will continue to be investigated and sourced where 
possible, including future opportunities for government funding or funding through the 
Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP).  Some additional funding may 
become available from the County Council.  In addition, the District Council and County 
will together seek to secure funding from a variety of sources, this including the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund (HIF) currently being promoted by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) and the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).

9.2 Section 1 – the ‘southern’ section

9.3 Section 1 to the SWRR, that associated with the Holland Park SUE, will deliver 2,250 new 
homes and associated infrastructure.  The outline permission and attendant legal 
agreement requires the developer to make a significant contribution towards the first 
section of the SWRR.  This is in addition to providing substantial contributions to wider site 
infrastructure.

9.4 The outline scheme at Holland Park is presently committed to providing the following on 
and off-site contributions:

a) The provision and phased delivery, to an agreed timetable and at an estimated cost 
of £250,000 (to be borne in its entirety by the developer), of two number low-floor, 
easy access, and DDA compliant buses together with revenue support for those 
buses for a period of three years. Both the capital expenditure and revenue funding to 
be index-linked in line with the retail price index (RPI) 

b) The provision of a site and the construction and delivery, to an agreed timetable and 
at an estimated cost of £6,000,000 (to be borne in its entirety by the developer), of a 

Page 44



Two-Form Entry Primary School and the subsequent hand-over of this building when 
complete to Lincolnshire County Council’s Children’s Services 

c) The provision of a site and the construction and delivery, to an agreed timetable and 
at an estimated cost of £1,200,000 (to be borne in its entirety by the developer), of a 
Community Building within the District Centre and the subsequent hand-over of this 
building when complete to South Holland District Council 

d) The provision, equipping and maintenance of all areas of open space and play space, 
including the open space associated with the SUDS system, in strict accordance with 
the provisions of the District Council’s Open Space in New Residential Developments 
SPD 2007 and the payment of a commuted sum for maintenance for a period of 10 
years in full accordance with the requirements of Appendix C thereto, these sums to 
be applied at the level applicable at the time of delivery and increased annually for the 
total cost for a 10 year period in line with the retail price index (RPI) 

e) The provision and phased delivery, to an agreed timetable, of a capital sum of 
£100,000 for external improvements to the historic fabric to Spalding’s historic town 
centre; 

f) The provision and phased delivery, to an agreed timetable and in accordance with the 
details and specifications subsequently agreed in connection with the terms of the 
Outline planning permission to which the agreement relates, of the first Section of the 
Western Relief Road, this to include a bridge over Spalding-Peterborough Railway 
line, and the Primary Street linking the relief road to The Broadway, all to adoptable 
standards and at a cost to be borne in its entirety by the developer; and 

g) The provision and phased delivery, to an agreed timetable and in accordance with the 
details and specifications subsequently agreed in connection with the terms of the 
Outline planning permission to which the agreement relates, of traffic calming 
measures on The Parkway at a cost to be borne in its entirety by the developer. 

h) The provision and phased delivery, to an agreed timetable and in accordance with the 
details and specifications subsequently agreed in connection with the terms of the 
Outline planning permission to which the agreement relates, of integrated primary and 
social care services in the form of the Health Centre (shown to be located within the 
District Centre) and the extra care facilities (shown to located within the northern 
Local Centre).

9.5 In summary, these contributions total a figure in the region of  £24M when the SUDS 
system is factored in (at an estimated cost of £2.5M).  The figure associated with 
delivering the necessary highways infrastructure stands at £14M, this essentially 
comprising approximately £3M for the main internal distributor road associated with the 
development itself and a contribution of some £11M or so towards the two roundabouts 
and first section of the SWRR to the southern edge of the site.  These figures are all 
index-linked.

9.6 Since the granting of the outline permission associated with Holland Park, and the 
subsequent first reserved matters approval, the District and County Councils have been 
working with the developers themselves to finalise the detail of the first section of the 
SWRR to provide a highway to relief road standard.  The highways scheme required to 
serve the Holland Park development clearly differs, in size and scale, from a highways 
scheme required to serve as part of a wider relief road to Spalding.  In short, the 
carriageway width required for the relief road is wider and this has a consequent impact 
on the size of the associated roundabouts on both the B1172 Spalding Common (A) and 
the roundabout to the north (B).  It also has implications on the width of the overbridge 
spanning the mainline.

9.7 The final calculated cost of the first section of the SWRR stands at £15M.  The County 
Council has agreed, with the developer, to forward-fund the whole cost of the first section 
of the SWRR on the basis that the developer makes stage payments, at triggered 

Page 45



intervals, towards repaying the substantive cost of the road as the development is built 
out.  There is, however, a not insignificant shortfall in build costs and this relates to the 
higher specification required to deliver a relief road rather than the small estate road that 
would be required solely in connection with the development itself.  This shortfall stands at 
£3.5M and the County Council has formally agreed, with the developer, to meet this 
shortfall.  The County Council has also agreed that they will build the first section of the 
SWRR.  The developer will, for his part, commit to providing the internal distributor road to 
Holland Park at the same time in order to ensure that the whole of the necessary 
highways infrastructure provides additional highways capacity and the ability to act as a 
short-term solution to traffic management within the wider town.

9.8 In order to meet with these commitments that County Council has allocated £10M for this 
scheme in its current capital programme in advance of developer contributions.   These 
monies will be used to front-fund the delivery of Section 1 in the clear expectation that 
external income from the developers for their substantive contribution will be received 
over the life of the project.  In summary, funding arrangements are in place and there is 
partnership commitment to the delivery of the first section of the SWRR.  We will come to 
timetabling below.

9.9 Section 5 – the ‘northern’ section

9.10 Section 5 to the SWRR, unlike section 1, has not yet been promoted as part of an 
attendant planning permission for wider development.  Section 5, unlike section 1, 
traverses land controlled by essentially two separate yet significant ownerships/option 
agreements.  Section 5 is consequently less well advanced than Section 1 given that its 
route (and delivery) is largely associated with land allocated for development in the 
emerging SELLP.  It is, however, critical to the delivery of not only Section 5 but to the 
whole of the SWRR to ensure that Section 5 of the SWRR is positively planned.  Indeed, 
Section 5 is strikingly similar to Section 1 in that it forms one end of the whole SWRR and, 
as a section, requires a large and small roundabout together with an overbridge crossing 
the mainline.

9.11 The District and County Councils have been working collaboratively to develop the detail 
of section 5.  The STS and wider ambitions for the delivery of the SWRR have evidenced 
that Section 5 is required to incorporate a 5-arm roundabout (Junction I) connecting with 
the B1356 Spalding Road/Pinchbeck Road.  From this roundabout, Section 5 needs to run 
alongside the Vernatt’s Drain to a second overbridge spanning the same rail line as 
Section 1.  The highway will thereafter need to extend from the overbridge to Junction H.  
Detailed schematics have been prepared for Section 5 given that the options for alignment 
of the route are, for all practical purposes, somewhat limited.  There is, in effect, only one 
scheme option.  This option requires the route of Section 5 to align itself with the existing 
alignment of the Vernatt’s Drain, so far as is constructionally possible, whilst maintaining 
the ability to integrate with B1356 Spalding Road with a roundabout of sufficient size to 
cater for existing and proposed highways capacity.

9.12 The County Council has developed a highways scheme in sufficient detail to understand 
the overarching costs associated with Section 5.  These are in the region of £12M.  These 
costs cannot be borne, in totality, by development located on the frontage of the B1356 
given that this particular allocated site is only capable of delivering approximately 650 
dwellings once additional requirements for associated open space and buffer zones are 
factored in.  These costs cannot, furthermore, be wholly derived from development 
associated with the land immediately west of the Vernatt’s Drain as this land will, itself, be 
required to bear the substantive costs of delivering Section 4.

Page 46



9.13 There is therefore a need to not only seek alternative sources of funding for Section 5 but 
to also understand that until Section 5 is delivered the substantial land allocation for circa 
4,000 houses on land north of the Vernatt’s Drain cannot be developed out.

9.14 The above factors are acknowledged by officers and substantial efforts have been made 
to seek to secure both alternative sources of funding and, crucially, to develop a funding 
mechanism that facilitates forward-funding in order to bring forward substantial housing 
growth on land north of the Vernatt’s Drain.  These efforts are complemented by an 
emerging policy framework that precludes any form of development in this location that 
compromises or fetters the ability of the Councils to bring forward Section 5.  This policy 
framework positively promotes the use of compulsory purchase or other powers should 
these prove necessary.  It is presently anticipated, given the willingness of the existing 
developers to work with the Council’s to bring forward a solution, that these powers would 
be utilised in conjunction with a collaborative agreement.

9.15 ‘Masterplanning’ the delivery strategy

9.16 In November 2016 the government, through the Homes and Communities Agency, 
launched the ‘Large Sites and Housing Zones Capacity Funding’ programme.  The 
purpose of this programme is to enable local authorities to bid for funding to assist in 
providing additional financial capacity that, in turn, supports activity towards the planning 
of major housing projects.  During December 2016 the Council, working in partnership 
with the County Council in their capacity as the local highways authority, submitted a bid 
for funding into the programme. This bid was additionally developed in direct collaboration 
with the two main developers associated with delivering growth on the allocated land 
surrounding Section 5 to the SWRR.

9.17 The submitted bid was focused on securing financial support to progress detailed 
feasibility and design work in relation to the northern section of the Spalding Western 
Relief Road and the associated housing land.  In order to support the funding bid the 
Council and Lincolnshire County Council made an ‘in principle’ commitment of match-
funding to support the feasibility and master-planning work. The Council’s ‘in principle’ 
match funding commitment was a sum of £100,000.

9.18 In March 2017, the Council received confirmation from the Homes and Communities 
Agency that its bid to the agency had been successful. The Council was awarded 
£224,000 to progress the proposed master planning and design work in relation to the 
proposed. The Council also received highly positive feedback on the quality of its funding 
application, and its proposed use for the funding.

9.19 At its Council meeting held on 25 July 2017 the Council formally accepted the sum of 
£224,000 in grant from the Homes and Communities Agency.  It agreed to make available 
£100,000 in match funding from the Council’s Investment & Growth Reserve to support 
the proposed master planning exercise.  It additionally approved a revenue expenditure 
budget of £344,000 in 2017/18 funded through HCA Grant (£224,000) and Investment & 
Growth Reserve (£100,000).

9.20 The County Council has also committed to additional match-funding in the sum of 
£50,000.   Significant financial contributions have been committed by each of the private 
sector developer partners.  These additional funds may be utilised in order to directly 
commission associated work or, in the event that the Council receives these financial 
contributions directly, to supplement the budget for the master-planning exercise identified 
above.

Page 47



9.21 Officers have now commissioned WSP, specialist planning and transport consultants, to 
undertake phase one of this work.  They have also engaged with partners, this including 
the County Council and developers, and the presently commissioned programme of work 
is aimed at developing the design of the northern section;

a. to a level sufficient to support a planning application; and
b. to confirm the options for the alignment of the central section.

9.22 Specifically, the current work programme is focused on delivering following outcomes:

 Developing the design work for the first section of the SWRR Northern Section 
(Junction I to Junction H), supported by costings. 

 Developing the design and route options for the central part (Sections 2-4) of the 
SWRR between the southern section (at B) and Junction H of the northern section. 
This will include a number of potential alignment options, which need to be developed 
to a concept design level with initial costings. 

 Developing a SWRR ‘movement strategy’, which will deal with multi-modal transport 
modelling 

 Developing a SWRR Landscape Strategy

 Utilising the design work and cost estimates and, crucially, developing a SWRR 
Delivery Strategy focused identifying a funding mechanism to bring about the future 
delivery of the northern section of the SWRR; and

 Developing a new traffic model in order to expedite the progress of sections 2 to 4

9.23 This initial work phase is budgeted at £160,000.  The second stage is dependent on the 
outcome of the initial work and will be scoped within the available budget. The second 
stage includes work relating to drainage strategies for the proposed road, preparation of a 
flood risk strategy, and further detailed transport modelling. This programme of activity will 
be supported through the use of external consultancy, including the transport planning 
team at WSP (Lincolnshire County Council’s strategic highways partner). 

9.24 Work began in earnest in August 2017.  The initial reporting stage is expected to be 
completed in October 2017.  Subsequent workstreams will develop the project further with 
a view to facilitating wider public consultation on the detailed proposals in Summer 2018.  
This process will enable the Council to develop a detailed strategy for the future delivery 
of the proposed SWRR, and attendant housing and infrastructure, in direct collaboration 
with the County Council and associated developer partners.

9.25 The timelines associated with these workstreams are tight.  The initial phase of this 
workstream requires an agreed delivery strategy to be in place by October 2018.  This 
work is in train and on target.  It needs to be noted that the timelines for developing the 
detailed design-work, cost-estimates, and establishing the agreed details of a funding 
mechanism with partners needs to mesh with ongoing workstreams associated with the 
emerging South East Lincolnshire Local Plan.

9.26 The Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF)

Page 48



9.27 In addition to the above workstreams associated with developing the delivery strategy for 
the wider SWRR, officers are also working on submitting a funding bid to the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund (HIF).  The HIF is administered by DCLG and the HCA. The HIF is a 
government capital grant programme of up to £2.3 billion specifically aimed at helping to 
deliver up to 100,000 new homes in England.

9.28 The funding bid currently being worked up for submission to DCLG & the HCA is 
specifically related to infrastructure works associated with delivering the ‘northern’ section 
to the SWRR.  The early delivery of the ‘northern’ section of the SWRR would not only 
directly facilitate delivery of some 650 new houses on land fronting Spalding/Pinchbeck 
Road, it would also open up land to rear on which a further 4,000 new houses could be 
delivered.

9.29 The purpose of the HIF is to grant fund new infrastructure that would unlock new homes in 
areas of greatest housing demand.  Funding will be awarded to local authorities on a 
highly competitive basis.  The HIF fund is intended to:

 Deliver new physical infrastructure to support new and existing communities; 
 Make more land available for housing in high demand areas, resulting in new 

additional homes that otherwise would not have been built;
 Support ambitious local authorities who want to step up their plans for growth and 

make a meaningful difference to overall housing supply; and 
 Enable local authorities to recycle the funding for other infrastructure projects, 

achieving more and delivering new homes in the future.

9.30 The funding mechanisms promoted through the HIF differ and are dependent upon the 
type of intervention needed.  The most appropriate funding for delivering the ‘northern’ 
section to the SWRR would be Marginal Viability Funding (MVF).  The purpose of MVF is 
to provide the final, or missing, piece of infrastructure to get additional sites allocated or 
existing sites unblocked quickly.  There is an expectation that, should funding be 
allocated, the infrastructure would be built soon after and the homes would follow at pace.

9.31 The HIF is available over four years from 2017/18 to 2020/1.  DCLG and the HCA are 
looking for some Marginal Viability proposals that can spend in 2017/8.  The clear 
expectation is that all funding must be committed by March 2021.

9.32 Bids of up to £10M can be sought for Marginal Viability proposals, with higher levels of 
funding being potentially awarded for exceptional bids.  Single and lower tier authorities 
can bid for MVF.  There is an expectation for tiers of government to work together and 
joint bids are encouraged where they will unlock housing at scale.

9.32 The bid eligibility criteria sets out that development schemes must;

 Require grant funding to deliver physical infrastructure and provide strong 
evidence that the infrastructure is necessary to unlock new homes and cannot be 
funded through another route. 

 Support delivery of an up to date plan or speed up getting one in place. 
 Have support locally 
 Spend the funding by 2020/21

9.33 Officers are of the view that there is a strong case to be made for making a bid to the HIF 
for Marginal Viability Funding in order to deliver the infrastructure required for the 
‘northern’ section of the SWRR.  The estimated cost of delivering the ‘northern’ section is 

Page 49



in the order of £12M.  Paragraph 9.12 above has highlighted that the up-front 
infrastructure costs associated with Section 5, the ‘northern’ section of the SWRR, cannot 
be borne in totality by development located on the frontage of the B1356 
Spalding/Pinchbeck Road or development associated with the land immediately west of 
the Vernatt’s Drain.

9.34 Officers are therefore, in direct collaboration with County partners, currently working on a 
bid for MVF for the up-front costs of delivering Section 5 to the SWRR.  The deadline for 
making this bid is tight.  The bid itself needs to demonstrate that the proposal is taking a 
strategic approach to delivery, is value for money, and is deliverable.  There is a need to 
demonstrate strong local leadership and joint working in order to achieve higher levels of 
housing growth in the local area.  Political commitment to the delivery of the ‘northern’ 
section to the SWRR is demonstrable.  The bid will also be supported by our MP, and 
current Minister of State to the Department for Transport, the Rt Hon John Hayes.

9.35 MVF bids will be assessed through a one-stage process and bids must be submitted by 
28 September 2017.  Following assessment, funding awards will be announced from late 
2017 or early in 2018.  Officers will advise Members of progress throughout.

9.36 Sections 2, 3 and 4

9.37 The precise route of Sections 2, 3 and 4 to the SWRR remain to be determined and are 
currently the subject of options appraisals.  The details of these elements will be brought 
forward in due course and will be subject to public consultation prior to the routes being 
finalised.  These elements of the SWRR are, in effect, the least expensive to deliver as 
they do not require the provision of an overbridge spanning the mainline.  The present 
expectation is that the primary source of finance for these sections of the SWRR will be 
through contributions from associated development.  The working model associated with 
Section 1, that of forward-funding and staged repayments over time, is likely to be 
followed for Sections 2, 3 and 4 with the monies recycled for subsequent stages.

10.0 The planning application process and timetabling

10.1 Due to the over-riding strategic importance of the SWRR the County Council, in its role as 
local highways authority, has now committed to lead on the submission of the planning 
applications associated with the whole route.  The process will follow the normal planning 
application procedure and will involve wide publicity and statutory local consultation.

10.2 Given the advanced stage of the Holland Park development the planning application for 
Section 1, the ‘southern’ section to the SWRR, is likely to be submitted in September 
2018.  The whole process has already been programmed and agreement has recently 
been reached between the developers, Broadgate Homes, and the County Council on 
funding arrangements.  The planning application will be determined at the County 
Council’s Planning Committee, around January 2019.  Assuming consent is granted the 
detailed design stage, tender and procurement processes will follow at pace with an 
anticipated start on site in September 2021.

10.3 The planning application process for Section 5, the ‘northern’ section, will parallel the 
timescales associated with Section 1.  Assuming that funding is sourced and permission 
granted works would start on site in July 2021.

10.4 The construction phases associated with Sections 1 and 5 are in the order of 18 months.  
In this context it is predicted that Section 1 would be completed in March 2023 with 
Section 5 being completed a little earlier in January 2023.

Page 50



10.5 It is too early in the process to speculate on the timings of Sections 2, 3 and 4.  However, 
the County Council has also committed to commence work on the submission of the 
planning application associated with Section 2, that section leading from Holland Park 
through to the A151 Bourne Road.  The intention is to push forward with this application in 
order to facilitate a process whereby, once work is completed on Section 1, Section 2 
follows swiftly on thereby enabling relief to the wider town by delivering a route from the 
south through to the 151 Bourne Road.

11.0 Emerging Policy Direction

11.1 The ‘Publication Version’ of the Local Plan was the subject of public consultation in 
April/May of this year.  This prompted the submission of some 330 individual comments to 
which officer responses were prepared.  The Publication Version of the Local Plan, its 
associated public comments and officer responses, and a large collection of supporting 
documentation were then submitted for Examination to the Secretary of State (via the 
Planning Inspectorate) on 23 June.

11.2       A number of comments were received in respect of Policy 12: Vernatts Sustainable Urban 
Extension, Policy 29: Delivering a More Sustainable Transport Network and Policy 30: 
Delivering the Spalding Transport Strategy, all of which include provisions relating to the 
delivery of the SWRR.  Some of the comments objecting to certain elements of these 
emerging policies were submitted separately by the local house builders Broadgate 
Homes Limited and Ashley King (Developments) Ltd, both of which have separate 
interests in the proposed Vernatts SUE (see Appendix 1).  Officers have subsequently 
held a series of meetings with representatives of Broadgate Homes Ltd regarding its 
concerns, and significant progress has been made on reaching agreement on proposed 
solutions which address them. Officers have additionally engaged with both developers in 
connection with matters relating to ‘masterplanning’ the delivery strategy highlighted at 
paragraphs 9.15-25 above.  The matters will be considered by the Examination 
Inspectors, along with inputs from other parties with an interest in these policies. 

11.3       The Local Plan Examination hearings will commence next month on Tuesday, 10 October. 

12.0 CONCLUSIONS AND SUMMARY POSITION

12.1 This report outlines that significant progress has been made over recent months in 
consolidating the strategic direction and outlining the strategy for delivering the SWRR.  
The Council is continuing to work with the County Council and key partners to ensure the 
policy framework is in place to facilitate the delivery of component parts of the SWRR in 
timely fashion in order to meet with the Council’s wider growth ambitions.  The Council, in 
tandem with both the County Council and key partners, will continue to explore 
opportunities and develop mechanisms for funding and delivery.  Members will be advised 
of further progress as matters develop.

13.0 OPTIONS

13.1 Option (A) - Do Nothing

13.2 The recommendation is to note and endorse the strategic direction, key milestones and 
developing delivery strategy for Spalding’s Western Relief Road; for officers to update 
Members on progress as appropriate; and for the Council’s Place Manager, in conjunction 
with both the Portfolio Holder for Growth and Commercialisation and the Executive 
Director of Commercialisation, to continue to work with the County Council and key 
partners to ensure the delivery strategy for the SWRR meshes with the Council’s key 
growth and infrastructure ambitions.

Page 51



13.3 The ‘Do Nothing’ option is not recommended.

13.4 Option (B) – Note and endorse the contents of the report and actions to date

13.5 This option is recommended.  The information contained within the body of this report 
highlights matters that meet with both the Councils and the government’s growth agendas.  
The information contained within the body of this report additionally highlights matters that 
meet with the Councils Corporate Priorities and the thrust of the emerging SELLP.

14.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

14.1 The recommendations set out above are self-explanatory.

15.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

15.1 The benefits of delivering the SWRR are set out in detail in the main body of this report.  
They meet with the Councils growth ambitions, and mesh with the emerging SELLP, to 
the overall benefit of the District (and wider) and its residents.

16.0 IMPLICATIONS

16.1 Environmental Issues

16.2 No immediate environmental implications beyond those covered in the body of this report.  
An environmental assessment will be required as part and parcel of any application for 
planning permission for the various phased sections of the SWRR.

16.3 Constitution & Legal

16.4 No constitutional implications.

16.5 Contracts

16.6 None at this stage other than those referred to in the body of this report.

16.7 Corporate Priorities

16.8 This report recommends a course of action that meshes with the Councils key priorities of 
encouraging the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth and in having pride in 
South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop and thrive.

16.9 Crime and Disorder 

16.10 No direct implications

16.11 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

16.12 No direct implications.

16.13 Financial

16.14 No financial implications beyond those set out in the body of this report

16.15 Health & Wellbeing

Page 52



16.16 No implications beyond the positive benefits set out in the body of this report.

16.17 Reputation 

16.18 No implications beyond the positive benefits set out in the body of this report

16.19 Risk Management 

16.20 No risks beyond those set out in the body of this report.

17.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

17.1 All

18.0 ACRONYMS

A-I refers to roundabouts/junctions
Board Spalding Western Relief Road Executive Management Board
DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government
DDA Disability Discrimination Act
GLLEP Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership
HCA Homes and Communities Agency
HIF Housing Infrastructure Fund
JPU Joint Policy Unit
JSPC Joint Strategic Planning Committee
LCC Lincolnshire County Council
LTP 4th Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan
MP Member of Parliament
MVF Marginal Viability Fund
SELLP South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
SHDC South Holland District Council
STS Spalding Transport Strategy
SUE Sustainable Urban Extension
SWRR Spalding Western Relief Road
Steering Group The Spalding Western Relief Road Steering Group
RPI Retail Price Index
£M Millions (pounds sterling)

Background Papers:

Adopted South Holland Local Plan 2006, available at http://localplan.sholland.gov.uk

Emerging South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, available at http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org

Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan (4th), available at http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/wp-
content/uploads/2017/06/4th-Lincolnshire-Local-Transport-Plan-2013-14-2022-23-April-2013.pdf

Housing and Infrastructure Fund policy documentation, available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-infrastructure-fund

Planning History to the Holland Park SUE

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Paul Jackson, Place Manager

Page 53

http://localplan.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/
http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/4th-Lincolnshire-Local-Transport-Plan-2013-14-2022-23-April-2013.pdf
http://www.southeastlincslocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/4th-Lincolnshire-Local-Transport-Plan-2013-14-2022-23-April-2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-infrastructure-fund


Telephone Number: 01775-764402
Email: paul.jackson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:

One Allocated sites Spalding identified in emerging SELLP
Two Route of SWRR:  Option 1 – Eastern Alignment, including safeguarding corridor
Three Route of SWRR:  Option 2 – Western Alignment, including safeguarding corridor

Page 54

mailto:paul.jackson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Appendix One - Allocated sites in Spalding identified in emerging SELLP

Page 55



Appendix Two - Route of SWRR:  Option 1 – Eastern Alignment, including safeguarding 
corridor

Page 56



Appendix Three - Route of SWRR:  Option 2 – Western Alignment, including safeguarding 
corridor

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance 

To: Strategy Board Tuesday, 12 September 2017
Cabinet 19 September 2017

Author: Jane Crosby Strategic Business Partner

Subject Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool 2018/19

Purpose: To seek approval for South Holland DC to be re-admitted to the Lincolnshire 
Business Rates Pool for 2018-19.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members approve that South Holland are re-admitted to the Lincolnshire Business 
Rates Pool for 2018-19 and subsequent years

2) That delegated authority be given to the S151 Officer in consultation with the Finance 
Portfolio Holder, to confirm the arrangements with the other Lincolnshire local authorities. 

1.0 BACKGROUND AND BUSINESS RATES POOL EXPLAINED

1.1 With the introduction of the business rates retention scheme as part of local government 
funding there was an opportunity to maximise the level of funding retained by joining a 
business rates pool with other local authorities. 

1.2 As SHDC collects more business rates than central government determines that it needs, a 
levy is applied to that additional amount and 50% is taken by central government. A Pool is 
a mechanism for avoiding having to pay this levy and enabling authorities to retain a higher 
proportion of any growth to local business rates income. In the case of the Lincolnshire 
Pool each District Council gets to keep 60% of the growth and passes 40% to Lincolnshire 
County Council. It is therefore retaining 10% more of any growth than it would do outside 
the Pool. 

1.3 In the case of South Holland there were some substantial appeals lodged against the level 
of business rates payable on the two power stations located in South Holland. The 
significant reduction in the business rates payable from these two stations posed a 
significant risk to the viability of the Lincolnshire Pool. As such SHDC are currently not part 
of the Lincolnshire Pooling arrangement. . 

1.4 The business rates payable on these power stations has now been largely resolved. In 
common with all Lincolnshire authorities there are ongoing risks and rewards around levels 
of business rates that will be payable but a review of the current position means that there 
are likely to be benefits for all Lincolnshire authorities and for South Holland if SHDC is re-
admitted to the Pool for 2018-19 onwards.

Page 59

Agenda Item 9.



1.5 The exact risks and rewards of the Pool are covered in the ‘Memorandum of 
Understanding’ agreed between the parties in the Pool. Predicting the financial benefit with 
any certainty is difficult. The position for 2018-19 will be known with more certainty once the 
projections for next year’s business rates are calculated. However based on the initial 
estimates for 2017/18 and the position at the end of quarter 1, it is possible that the Pooling 
gain for SHDC could be £300k to £450k. Future further growth in business rates could 
improve this position but likewise any significant successful appeals or business rates 
failures would have the opposite effect. 

1.6 There are risks attached to pooling as the arrangement prevents a local authority from 
qualifying for the safety net should business rates significantly fall (because effectively the 
other members of the pool who have growth will keep the overall pool above the safety net 
level). This was the risk imposed by the South Holland power stations and the reason why 
they were not in the Pool. 

1.7 If authorities wish to make arrangements for revised business rates pools for 2018/19 then 
these have to be submitted to DCLG by 31 October 2017. Ahead of this a review of the 
anticipated levels of future business rates across Lincolnshire Authorities has been 
undertaken. This has shown an overall positive position with most authorities anticipating 
positive growth projections. 

1.8 A revised Memorandum of Understanding is being prepared and a decision is required as 
to whether SHDC wishes to join the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The Council could assess that it does not want not to join the Lincolnshire Business Rates 
Pool, primarily because of the risks that it could present should another authority have a 
significant reduction in the level of Business Rates that it is able to collect. However, in the 
event that this risk does not materialise SHDC could stand to lose a significant levels of 
additional retained business rates income if it is not part of the Pool. As noted above it is 
not possible to predict the financial benefits with any certainty.

2.2 As recommended the Council could decide to join the business rates pool leaving the final 
decision and the signing of the Memorandum of Understanding delegated to the S151 
Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Finance. This decision would be based on the most up 
to date information prior to the 31 October 2017 deadline. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The projected figures for the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool does present SHDC with a 
potentially significant financial gain, now that the rates appeals lodged by the power 
stations have been largely resolved. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 As noted above the anticipated benefits of joining the pool are financial and could be in the 
region of £300k to £450k. 

Page 60



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial
See paragraphs above. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

None

ACRONYMS

NA

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jane Crosby Strategic Business Partner
Telephone Number
Email: jane.crosby@cpbs.com

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: None.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Worth, Executive Member for Growth

To: Strategy Board - Tuesday, 12 September 2017 
Cabinet – Tuesday, 19th September 2017

(Author: Lucy Buttery - Planning Policy Officer)

Subject Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area designation

Purpose: The purpose of this report is for Members to formally designate the Long 
Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area.

Recommendation(s): 

It is recommended that Members consider the contents of this report and Appendix A and 
endorse Option 1 to designate the Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area as submitted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the ability for Town and Parish Council’s, along with   
designated Neighbourhood Forums to prepare Neighbourhood Plans to help promote   
growth and shape the development of their areas.

1.2 Neighbourhood Plans have Development Plan status, and their preparation is subject to     
the provisions of the Localism Act along with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012, as amended.

1.3 One of the first key stages in the process is for the extent of the Plan area put forward by 
the community to be designated by the Local Planning Authority. This normally occurs   
before the plan can begin to be developed, and will set the area within which the policies in 
the Neighbourhood Plan will apply.

1.4 Members are advised that Long Sutton Parish Council submitted a proposal for the    
designation of a Neighbourhood Plan area to the Council on 27th July 2017. 

1.5 This is the second formal application for a Neighbourhood Plan area that the Council has   
received under the provisions of the Localism Act.

PROPOSED LONG SUTTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA

1.6 As indicated in paragraph 1.4 above, the Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area has been 
put forward by Long Sutton Parish Council. Members are reminded that Parish Councils  
are a relevant body for the purposes of section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and, as such, their formation does not require any separate designation by the Local      
Planning Authority.

Page 63

Agenda Item 10.



1.7 The plan area put forward includes the whole of the parish of Long Sutton (see map in  
Appendix A).

1.8 The justification provided by the parish council for choosing the proposed area has been  
considered. The community stated that as Long Sutton is a predominantly rural parish it is 
important to protect the rural setting of the town, whilst managing through the plan  
appropriate development in the countryside. This approach is considered suitable.

1.9 The 1990 Act requires the Council to consider the desirability of confirming the whole or   
part of a Parish as a Neighbourhood Plan area. Section 61G (7) of the 1990 Act states that 
Neighbourhood Plan areas must not overlap. The Neighbourhood Plan area submitted by 
Long Sutton Parish Council is considered appropriate as it will avert potential future issues 
of overlapping should a proposal be made to designate a Neighbourhood Plan area in an 
adjacent parish.

1.10 Given that the area is not principally an employment area (in planning terms), there is no 
indication that the area should be designated as a Business area (as set out in the 1990  
Act).

1.11 The Council is at the final stage of producing a new single Local Plan document (in  
conjunction with Boston Borough Council and Lincolnshire County Council) which, once  
adopted, will replace the current suite of Statutory Development Plan documents. The  
Council has a duty to support the Neighbourhood Plan process and so will need to work  
alongside Long Sutton Parish Council as it moves through the most critical stage of the  
Local Plan process. This is due to the fact that the Neighbourhood Plan is required to be in 
broad conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan, which itself seeks to provide 
the strategic direction for growth and change in South East Lincolnshire.

PUBLICISING THE DESIGNATED PLAN AREA

1.12 Due to changes to the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations it is no longer a requirement      
for the Council to undertake consultation on a proposed Neighbourhood Plan area where     
the area specified in the application consists of the whole of the parish council’s area.

1.13 However, if members endorse the proposed Neighbourhood Plan area, the Council is   
required by Regulation 7 of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations to publicise this fact. 
A formal notice will be placed in the local press (the Spalding Voice), as well as on the   
Council’s website. Members are reminded that the wider publication and consultation on  
the Neighbourhood Plan will be the responsibility of the Parish Council as it moves  
forward.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are two options open to Members, which are as follows:

 Option 1 - Cabinet considers the content of this report and confirms the 
Neighbourhood Plan area as submitted by Long Sutton Parish Council as set out in 
Appendix A of this report.

 Option 2 – Do nothing.

Page 64



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet endorses Option 1 above. As highlighted within the report, 
the Neighbourhood Plan area proposed is considered to be appropriate and there are no 
issues that should affect the confirmation of the Plan area.

3.2 The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations require the Local Planning Authority to make a 
designation. As such, the alternative option to ‘do nothing’ would prevent the 
Neighbourhood Plan from moving forward.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefits of confirming the Plan area is to enable the community to move                   
forward with the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 The designation of Neighbourhood Plans is in accordance with the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as amended, as well as the provisions of the 
Localism Act 2011.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 Confirmation of the Plan area, thereby facilitating the advancement of the Neighbourhood 
Plan, will help support the Council’s Corporate Priority to “have pride in South Holland by 
supporting the district and residents to develop and thrive”.

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 There will be a small cost to the Council for the placing of the required press notices upon 
confirmation of the Plan area boundary.

Page 65



5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.13 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.13.1 The timescale for the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan itself will be set by the 
community.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report affects the ward of Long Sutton

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Lucy Buttery - Planning Policy Officer
Telephone Number (01775) 764470
Email: lbuttery@sholland.gov.uk

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Submitted Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area boundary

Page 66



P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance & Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151)

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 19 September 2017 

Author: Jane Crosby Strategic Business Partner

Subject Q1 Finance Report 2017/18

Purpose: This report provides information on Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2017) and forecast 
full year financial position of the Council.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and appendices are noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the performance and forecast full year position of the 
three financial areas of revenue, reserves, capital and treasury management as at 30 June 
2017. Detailed information is provided in Appendix A to this report. 

1.2 Revenue

Service budgets are currently forecasting a General Fund underspend of £63k. This 
position is subject to the Council being able to deliver the required level of staff and non-
staff savings that were included in the 2017/18 budget as a general provision and 
deliverable from the Transformation Programme. This will include elements such as the 
Place Review (being implemented) and additional savings measures may be required in 
order to achieve the above position. It is still too early to be certain if this presents a 
significant risk to the Council’s projected year end position This will be monitored closely 
during quarter 2 and as part of the preparatory work for the 2018/19 estimates.  

HRA revenue and capital budgets are subject to a significant review and changes due to 
the Place Review and the Business Plan, and the position will be updated for the end of 
Q2. 

The Council Tax and Business Rates collection funds are not forecasting any variances to 
budget at this stage of the year. However, this position is very fluid and will change as the 
year progresses.

1.3 Reserves

General Fund Reserves
Over the year the Council’s specific reserves are estimated to reduce from £8.343m to 
£7.149m. Contributions to reserves (£1.235m) are in line with the estimate (mainly New 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11.



Homes Bonus). Use of reserves (£2.429m) is mainly in support of the Transformation 
Programme, the capital programme, the new Delivery Unit and new development projects. 

HRA Reserves
The HRA reserves are forecast to grow from £15.864m to £18.573m, further revisions to 
the revenue budget ad capital programme will impact on the contributions and use of 
reserves and the forecast will be updated at the end of Q2.
 

1.4 Capital
The General Fund capital programme is currently showing a forecasted spend of £2.489m 
against a revised budget of £2.931m. This is for those schemes that have been approved 
to progress and represents 85% of the budget. At this stage there is an additional £1.379m 
of capital budget which has not been released for spend. 
The HRA capital programme is currently showing spend of £3.832m against a budget of 
£6.156m. Again, this is for those schemes that have been approved to progress and 
represents spend at 62% of the budget of approved schemes within the programme. At this 
stage there is an additional £3.851m of capital budget which has not been released for 
spend. 

Both capital programmes are subject to the development of new and revised projects and 
will be updated as necessary during Q2. 

1.5 Treasury
The cash investments held in money market funds (MMFs) and fixed investments was 
£36.4m at the end of Q1. Interest on investments was £52k against a profiled budget of 
£22k. Projections for future interest rate changes are uncertain and currently there are 
lowering returns available. The current projected outturn is for interest income of £170k 
compared to a budget of £150k. However, this position will be subject to change depending 
upon what happens to interest rates in the short to medium term.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and Appendix A

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Given the current economic climate and the potential levels of financial risk and uncertainty 
that exists within the Council’s capital and revenue budgets, it is important that financial 
performance is closely scrutinised by members and officers. Regular reporting will ensure 
that members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial position, in order to 
better inform future decision making.

Page 70



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
NA

5.2 Constitutional & Legal
The Constitution requires the Council to receive regular financial reports to keep members 
informed and aid future decision making. Financial reporting is also required as any 
recommended changes to the Council’s budgets will require varying levels of member or 
full Council approval. 

5.3 Contracts
NA

5.4 Corporate Priorities
The Council’s budgets and associated spend support the Council’s Priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder
NA

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
NA

5.7 Financial
This report and the associated Appendix are financial in nature and relevant financial 
information is contained within them

5.8 Health & Wellbeing
NA

5.9 Reputation
NA

5.10 Risk Management
The regular and timely reporting of financial performance enables the Council to address 
any financial risks as and when they are identified.

5.11 Safeguarding
NA

5.12 Staffing
NA

5.13 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
Budget holders have been consulted with as part of the preparation of the forecast financial 
position.

5.14 Transformation Programme
The Council’s Transformation Programme includes projects to deliver future financial 
savings. These projects are still being developed and the report references the financial 

Page 71



details of the Transformation Programme where relevant. 

5.15 Other
NA

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 NA

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 NA

Background papers:- The approved 2017/18 budget presented to Council in February 
2017

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jane Crosby Strategic Business Partner
Telephone Number 01507 613255
Email: jane.crosby@cpbs.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory and Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Financial Report for the quarter to 30 June 2017

Page 72



 

 APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council 

Financial Report for the quarter ending June 2017

This report has four sections
 Section 1 – General Fund Revenue budget
 Section 2 -  HRA Budget
 Section 3 -  Reserves
 Section 4 – Capital budget
 Section 5 – Treasury update

Section 1 – General Fund Revenue Budget

Based on the information as at 30 June 2017, Table 1 below details the forecast outturn 
against the approved budget for 2017-18 of £11.4m.  

Significant variances to the approved budget are detailed in Table 2.  

The forecast outturn is estimated at a £63k underspend compared to the original budget. 

 Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 
Budget

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn
£’000

Forecast 
Variance

(under)/over
£’000

Comments

Commercialisation
Commercialisation 30 30 0
Economic Development 91 91 0
Public Protection 506 536 30 Potential legal costs from 

court case (offset by projected 
reduction in overall legal 
spend when viewed 
corporately – see democratic 
services).

Finance (246) (279) (33) £162k reduction on CPBS 
contract price 
Additional agency costs £65k 
to cover vacant post (offset in 
part against vacant salary 
costs in DCHX budgets).
Impairment allowance for 
sundry debts increased by 
£23k due to increased levels 
of debt. Ongoing position may 
change.
Bank Charges potentially  
£34k overbudget. £19k of this 
is increased AllPay charges 
for collection of income. (This 
will be offset by future reduced 
costs from the closure of the 
cash office, as reported to 
members).

Revenues and benefits 771 767 (4)
Total 
Commercialisation

1,152 1,146 (6)

Page 73



 

Budget

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn
£’000

Forecast 
Variance

(under)/over
£’000

Comments

Place
Assets and Property 236 225 9 Business rates £6k above 

budget

Building Control 118 122 4

Community 
Development

1,351 1,307 (44) £40k salary underspends 
(leisure services manager post 
held vacant to cover property 
manager post within new 
Delivery Unit) 
£18k CCTV cost savings 
(based on a revised contract 
price with Boston BC)
£7k reduced business rates at 
Peele School.
£17k additional electrical 
supply works at Ayscoughfee 
Gdns Pavilion and Sports 
Centre – work required 
following a health and safety 
report. 
£3k additional subscriptions at 
Museum.

Housing (97) (59) 38 Agency staff costs to cover 
staff secondment..

Environmental Services 3,013 3,010 (3)
Planning (146) (196) (50) Additional Planning Income

Investment properties (50) (44) 6 Additional Business rates

Total - Place 4,424 4,384 (39)

Strategy and 
Governance
Corporate Improvement 
& Performance

104 112 8

Communications 137 137 0
Corporate Management 446 464 18 Professional fees for service 

review work

Democratic Services

1,071 1,053 (17) Legal budgets held centrally 
here. Q1 small underspend.  
£35k reduction projected to 
bring forecast it in line with last 
year’s outturn spend (will 
cover additional projected 
legal costs on public 
protection).
£20k – budget set too low for  
additional postage and 
stationery relating to IER

HR 549 543 (6)
IT and Customer 
Services

477 481 4

Total - Strategy and 
Governance

2,783 2,791 (7)

Statutory recharge to 
the HRA for support 
services

(374) (374) 0

Internal Drainage 3,064 3,051 (13) IDB Levy confirmed at a lower 
level than included in estimate

Page 74



 

Budget

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn
£’000

Forecast 
Variance

(under)/over
£’000

Comments

Boards and Parish 
Precepts
Investment Income (88) (100) (12) Forecast based on Q1 position

Capital and Other 
Adjustments

3,750 1,400 (2,350) Reduced capital spend on 
Priory Road 

Application of Capital 
Grants

325 325 0

Transfers to/from 
Reserves

(3,635) (1,286) 2,350 Reduced transfer from 
Investment and Growth 
Reserve to offset reduced 
capital spend

Total Cost of Services 11,401 11,337 (63)

Financing
Government Grants (3,133) (3,133) 0
Council Tax (5,415) (5,415) 0
Retained Business 
Rates

(2,852) (2,852) 0

Total Financing (11,401) (11,401) 0

Variance 0 (63) (63) Below budget forecasted 
spend

Page 75



 

Table 2 – Variances details 

Service Area Expenditure 
(under)/over 

Budget
£

Income 
(over)/Under

Budget
£

Total variance
(under)/over

Budget
£

Comments

Employee Costs 74 74 Agency overspend in Finance and Housing.
Note – The forecast position currently assumes that 
the salary efficiency savings target (from vacancies) 
of £151k will be achieved but at the end of Q1 some 
services (notably Environmental Services) are 
currently predicting levels of additional agency to 
cover vacancies that will not deliver the efficiency 
saving target. This will be monitored during Q2 and 
services reminded of the need to deliver this saving 
where possible. 
The salary cost savings from the Place Review are 
still to be costed but are assumed to be in line with 
those included within the transformation savings 
target for the year.

Premises 27 27 Business rates budgets reduced for 17/18 but 
payments will be £7k higher due to the introduction of 
the taper in payment decreases.
£17k additional property spend anticipated on 
Ascoughfee and Sports Centre in response to a 
health and safety report.

Transport (51) (51) Forecast underspend on Fuel and Tyres – this will be 
used to support projected overspends on waste 
sacks and other costs in environmental services (see 
below).

Supplies and 
Services

178 178 Unders and overs across a number of budget areas. 
Main movements:
£40k projected additional costs on purchase of green 
sacks (offset against transport savings above)
£34k increased costs of banking charges. (Increased 

P
age 76



 

Service Area Expenditure 
(under)/over 

Budget
£

Income 
(over)/Under

Budget
£

Total variance
(under)/over

Budget
£

Comments

AllPay costs will be offset against future savings from 
closure of cash office) .
£30k Legal costs in Public Protection (offset by 
anticipated reduction in Lincs Legal spend – see line 
below).
£23k Impairment Allowance increased for sundry. 
debts – will be subject to review as year progresses.
£15k professional fees for service review.
£20k postage and stationery in IER (budget not set at 
correct level).

Third party 
payments

(189) (189) £35k predicted underspend on Lincs Legal budgets.
£162k reduced base contract price for CPBS 
compared to that budgeted.
£10K additional non contract payments to CPBS – 
covered from government grants.

Transfer payments (686) (686) Estimated reduced spend on rent rebates and rent 
allowances, offset by reduced grants (see below).

Capital Spend (2,350) (2,350) This is the reduction agreed in capital spend on 
Priory Road in 2017/18 (with reduced funding from 
reserves, budgets to be adjusted).

Internal Drainage 
Board levy

(13) (13) Confirmed levies were below that budgeted for.

Grants, 
Contributions & 
Reimbursements

656 656 £48k additional Government Grant for benefit related 
activities (some to be transferred to CPBS to cover 
additional activity costs).
£703k estimated reduced government benefits 
subsidy to reflect reduced spend noted above.

Fees and Charges (44) (44) £50k increased planning income, offset by other 
small fees and charges income reductions compared 
to estimate.

Rents and Service (3) (3) Small additional industrial rental income .

P
age 77



 

Service Area Expenditure 
(under)/over 

Budget
£

Income 
(over)/Under

Budget
£

Total variance
(under)/over

Budget
£

Comments

Charges
Interest Income (12) (12) Forecast based on Q1 position
Transfers to/From 
Reserves

2,350 2,350 Reduced transfers from Investment and Growth 
reserve to offset reduced capital spend above.

Net variance (63) Net projected spend below budget

P
age 78



 

Revenue Budget Comments

Place Review - The projected year end forecast as at the end of Quarter 1 is subject to 
some significant levels of uncertainty, most particularly as a result of the implementation of 
the Place Review with effect from the 1 September. The impact on the 2017/18 budgets has 
yet to be fully costed and reflected in revised estimates for both staff and non-staff budget 
areas. 

Transformation Programme
Savings – There are various savings built into the 2017/18 estimates for the Transformation 
programme (£646k). At the end of Q1 the forecasted outturn position assumes that this will 
be fully delivered. As noted above the outcome of the Place Review will impact on this 
forecast.  
Spend - At the end of Q1 approximately £21k had been spent on transformation related 
projects. The budget for spend is held centrally and funded from reserves. Projected spend is 
currently in line with budget but may change as projects are developed over the coming 
months.

Staff Estimates – in addition to the impact of the place review on staffing estimates the 
2017/18 estimates also included a staff efficiency saving budget on the basis of achieving 
savings through an assumed level of staff vacancies. At the end of Q1 these savings have in 
some cases not been achieved and in some service areas, most notably in Environmental 
Services, staff vacancy savings are being used to fund additional agency staff. The position 
will be reviewed though Q2.

Planning Income – Whilst income has been buoyant in Q1 compared to the profiled budget 
there is some uncertainty around the levels that will be achieved in the coming months due to 
the implementation of the Local Development Plan and a possible downturn in major 
applications. A £50k above budget forecast is included here and the position will be reviewed 
at the end of Q2.  

Revenues and Benefits
Rebates and Rent Allowances – the current forecast is based on the predicted mid-year 
position (estimated at the end of July). This shows a reduction in both payments and subsidy 
compared to budget. The position will become clearer by the end of Q2.
Housing benefits overpayment recovery and court income has risen over the last two 
years. A better understanding of whether this trend will continue and whether performance 
against the increased budgets can be sustained will be established during the year.

Internal Drainage Board levies – A £13k underspend is anticipated as the final confirmed 
levies were less than those estimated.

Investment Income – This is currently being forecast slightly above (£12k) the budgeted 
level, based on the Q1 position. There have been some reductions in longer term interest 
rates in the market and some adjustment to counterparty exposures, so it is assumed that 
based on anticipated maturities of loans and likely levels of reinvestment that the remainder 
of the year will be in line with budgeted returns.  

Funding – At this stage the funding elements of the budget are assumed to be in line with 
budget. These are being monitored and a more informed forecast should be possible at the 
end of Q2. The Council has received some additional New Burdens funding from the 
Government in relation to benefits work. Some of this has been passed on to CPBS to refund 
direct additional costs that have been incurred. Future amounts will be passed on later in the 
year based on evidence of spend. 

Page 79



 

Collection Funds

Council Tax
The Council Tax Collection Fund has a forecast surplus for 2017/18 at 30 June 2017, 
with South Holland’s share being £70k. This will be reflected in future budgets. 
Current year forecasts will be updated on a quarterly basis as the year progresses.

Retained Business Rates
The retained NNDR Collection Fund account has a forecast surplus for 2017/18, with 
South Holland’s share being £203k. This will be reflected in future budgets. The 
movement from a deficit position in 2016/17 to forecast surplus position in 2017/18 is 
mainly due to a reduction in the provision for appeals for the power station which 
remains unsettled. This is monitored closely on a monthly basis. Current year 
forecasts show income slightly lower than expected to date due to movements in 
reliefs, however this will be monitored on a quarterly basis as the year progresses

Virements and Other Budget Adjustments

1 Spalding Grass Cutting - On 7 June 2017 a Portfolio decision was confirmed  to enable 
the Grounds Maintenance Team to undertake grass cutting for amenity purposes within the 
wards of Spalding for the 2017 season. The estimated cost of between £7,000 and £10,000 
is not covered within the existing Spalding Special budgets. The cost in 2017 will be covered 
from the Spalding Special contingency held in reserves. Estimates for 2018/19 will be 
adjusted to include this additional cost.

2 Housing Infrastructure Fund bid preparation - £7,500 (50% of cost to be split with LCC) 
has been approved to fund the cost of Mouchel leading on the HIF bid. The work will be done 
alongside the South Western Relief Road master planning work. This cost will be funded 
from The Council Tax Reserve.

3 Growth and Commercialisation Delivery Unit – Council have approved the 
establishment of this unit (shared with Breckland) to facilitate the moving forward of 
significant projects relating to the economic and housing development of the District. This 
unit will use existing staff and new resources to undertake its work. The estimated required 
funding is £96k to be funded from the Investment and Growth reserve. The budgets for the 
unit and the requirement for the drawdown from reserves will be developed over the coming 
months. 

4. North Spalding Sustainable Urban Extension - £100k has been approved to be funded 
from the Investment And Growth Reserve to support the master planning exercise for this 
development programme. 

Actions/Decisions

 To note the Q1 forecast outturn against the 2017-18 budget. 

Recommendations

 No recommendations at Quarter 1

Page 80



 

Section 2 – Housing Revenue Account

The revenue estimates for the HRA are subject to some significant changes due to 
the impact of the place review. For this reason an estimated outturn forecast has not 
been prepared for Q1. Revised revenue budgets for the HRA are being prepared and 
will be reviewed at the end of Q2. There are no significant issues to note at this 
stage.

Actions/Decisions

To note the forecast outturn position for the Housing Revenue Account will be updated at the 
end of Q2

Recommendations

There are no recommendations in Quarter One

Section 3 - Reserves

3.1 General Fund Reserves

The table below shows the General Fund Reserves balances as at 1 April 2017, projected 
use of reserves and forecast balance for 31 March 2018.  The balances within the table are 
funds that can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure. New project work on 
commercialisation and transformation will require additional work to be undertaken in Q2 to 
refine estimates for capital and revenue use in the rest of the year.

Table 3 General Fund Reserves

Reserve Balance 
1 April 2017

£000

Contrib’ns
in to 

Reserve
£000

Use of a 
Reserve

£000

Estimated 
Balance 31 
March 2018

£000

Comments

Transformation 809 - (273) 536 Use of Reserve - To 
fund expenditure 
against approved 
Transformation 
projects. 

Investment 
and Growth

4,753 1,099 (1,596) 4,256 Contributions - New 
Homes Bonus 
Use relates to:
 Capital prog – 

planned scheme 
spend to be 
confirmed.

 Delivery Unit
 NSSUE

Page 81



 

 
There are a number of Development projects which are in progress and, subject to 
Council approval, will require drawdown from the Investment and Growth Reserve for 
both capital and revenue expenditure. The use of reserves in the current and future 
years will be updated once further details and timing of spend have been confirmed. 

3.2 HRA Reserves

The values in Table 4 below are based on the confirmed balances at 1 April 2017 
and the estimated movements for 2017/18. The HRA’s capital programme (see 
section 4 below) and revenue budgets are subject to review and as such the forecast 
outturn values below are likely to change over the course of the year.

Earmarked 
Grants 

254 0 0 254 New reserve 
established to 
receive Government 
grants allocated for 
specific activity (HCA 
Capacity Funding 
and Planning 
initiatives).No current 
budgeted planned 
use 

Council Tax 2,082 0 (398) 1,684 Expenditure on Local 
Development Plan, 
HIF bid, Spalding 
grass cutting and 
current planned use 
of £325k to achieve a 
balanced budget. 

Insurance 220 - - 220 No required use or 
contributions

Replacement 
& 
Refurbishment

225 136 (162) 199 Contributions – base 
budget annual 
contribution (£136k|)
Estimated Use - 
£162k to support 
spend plan in 
services

Total Specific 
GF Reserves

8,343 1,235 (2,429) 7,149

General 
Reserve

2,064 - - 2,064

Total 
Reserves

10,407 1,235 (2,439) 9,213

Page 82



 

Table 4 HRA Reserves

Actions/Decisions

 To note the forecast position for earmarked reserves and receive a revised position at 
the end of Q2

Recommendations

 There are no recommendations at Quarter 1

Section 3 – Capital Budget 
This section reports on:

 Quarter One Forecast against 2017-18 approved capital programme
 Risks, issues and key messages

Table 5 – Quarter 1 expenditure against 2016-17 approved capital programme  

General Fund

Project
Revised 17-18

Estimate
Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast 
(Under)/overspend

    
Disabled Facilities Grants 585,287 325,000 (260,287)
Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair 75,000 75,000 0
Welland Homes 1,006,183 1,006,183 0
Travellers Sites 201,445 201,445 0
ICT Infrastructure 336,000 336,000 0
Council Chamber Conference Mic 27,900 27,900 0

Reserve Balance 
1 April 2017

£000

Contrib’ns
into 

Reserve
£000

Use of a 
Reserve

£000

Estimated 
Balance 31 
March 2018

£000
Cumulative  
Working balance 
as at 31.3.17

8,968 198 9,166

Budget 2017-18
Insurance Reserve 200 0 0 200
Major Repairs 
Reserve

6,696 6,307 (3,796) 9,207

Total Forecast 
Reserves as at 
31.3.2018

15,864 6,505 (3,796) 18,573

Page 83



 

Project
Revised 17-18

Estimate
Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast 
(Under)/overspend

System
Digital Vision 182,000 0 (182,000)
Warden Tree Industrial Estate 47,000 47,000 0
Fleet Road Industrial Estate 55,000 55,000 0
Railway lane Industrial Estate 65,000 65,000 0
Priory Road 350,000 350,000 0

 Sub Total of Approved Schemes  2,930,815 2,488,528 (442,287)
Schemes Subject to Approval    
Grounds Maintenance Equipment 50,000 50,000 0
Digital Vision 329,000 0 (329,000)
Growth Fund 1,000,000 1,000,000 0
    
Total General Fund Capital 
Programme 4,309,815 3,538,528 (771,287)
    
Financed  By:    
Capital Receipts 1,041,900 580,900 (511,000)
Borrowing 1,006,183 1,006,183 0
Grants and Contributions 861,732 601,445 (260,287)
Direct Revenue Funding 1,400,000 1,350,000 0
 4,309,815 3,538,528 (771,287)

HRA 

Project

Revised
17-18

Estimate
Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast 
(Under)/overspen

d
    
Central Heating Upgrade 1,317,000 1,200,000 (117,000)
Kitchen / Bathroom 1,454,000 1,200,000 (254,000)
Electrical Upgrade 107,000 100,000 (7,000)
Renewable Energy and Energy 
Efficiency 125,000 100,000 (25,000)
Decent Homes Component 
Replacements 211,000 0 (211,000)
Re-Roofing 701,016 600,000 (101,016)
Fees 219,000 0 (219,000)
Decent Homes 4,134,016 3,200,000 (934,016)
    
Sewage Treatment plant 65,000 65,000 0
The Square 63,000 63,000 0
Major Area schemes 128,000 128,000 0

Page 84



 

Project

Revised
17-18

Estimate
Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast 
(Under)/overspen

d
    
ICT Infrastructure 184,000 184,000 0
IT / System 184,000 184,000 0
    
Major Adaptations 400,000 200,000 (200,000)
Aids & Adaptations 400,000 200,000 (200,000)
    
New Build - Weston Development 1,145,000 50,000 (1,095,000)
Buy Back - Shared Ownership 165,000 70,000 (95,000)
Affordable Housing 1,310,000 120,000 (1,190,000)
Sub Total of Approved Schemes 6,156,016 3,832,000 (2,324,016)
    
Schemes Subject to Approval    
Affordable Housing 3,850,505 0 (3,850,505)
    
Total - HRA 10,006,521 3,832,000 (6,174,521)
    
    
Financed  By:    
Capital Receipts 1,161,452 36,000 (1,125,452)
Direct Revenue Funding 3,977,000 0 (3,977,000)
Major Repairs Reserve 4,868,069 3,796,000 (1,072,069)
 10,006,521 3,832,000 (6,174,521)

Table 6-Summary of variances

TABLE 6 CAPITAL VARIANCES AND BUDGET CARRY OVER REQUIREMENTS
Over/  

(under) 
spend  

£ Explanation/Comments
Project/Scheme

  

General Fund   

ICT (511,000)
Digital Vision schemes on hold 
awaiting further detail from 
Project lead

Page 85



 

TABLE 6 CAPITAL VARIANCES AND BUDGET CARRY OVER REQUIREMENTS

Project/Scheme

Over/  
(under) 
spend  

£ Explanation/Comments

DFG (260,287)

Spend assumed at original 
estimate for 17-18. Additional 
funding received from 
LCC.Service to confirm revised 
likely spend for the year.

Total General Fund Programme (771,287)  
Housing Revenue Account   

Decent Homes (934,016)

A detailed analysis of the 
variations against the Decent 
Homes Budget is set out in the 
table above. 

A review of the overall HRA 
Business Plan is currently being 
carried out and this will include a 
revised Asset Management 
Strategy.

Immediate short term priorities 
have been reviewed and 
appropriate contracts and 
programmes are in place. 

The underspend in the current 
year will be carried forward into 
2018/19.

Aids and Adaptations (200,000)  
Affordable Housing   

New Build (4,945,505)

The HRA Affordable Housing 
programme is being reviewed as 
part of the overall HRA Business 
plan update. 

Buy Back Shared Ownership (95,000)
Purchased 23 Farrow Avenue. 
Currently anticipate no further 
buy backs

Total HRA Programme (6,174,521)  

The original Capital Programme was approved at Council in February 2017. Further 
amendments have been made to deliver a revised budget which reflects previous year 
scheme underspends and changes to approved schemes. Further notes on individual 
schemes are provided below. The capital programme for both the HRA and General Fund 

Page 86



 

will be reviewed during Q2 and further changes reported to members for approval at that 
stage. 

 ICT infrastructure projects continuing to progress and the Digital Vision project lead is 
currently reviewing the scope of the scheme.

 Microphones in the member’s chamber have been purchased. Audio Visual upgrades 
including enhance projection equipment will be completed in the near future as a 
result of the Priory Road Capital programme status being confirmed.

 Two permanent travellers’ sites have now been delivered – one at Holbeach and, last 
year, a second at Drain Bank, Spalding.  The Spalding site is now complete and 
ownership has been transferred to the travellers.  We have, as a consequence, taken 
ownership of their former site in Gosberton.The remaining budget is required to 
deliver a third element, that of a temporary stop-over site.  This site originally selected 
was at Sutton Bridge.  The latest gypsy and traveller survey does not suggest the 
demand identified in 2006 for temporary stop-over accommodation is still there.  The 
service are re-assessing the situation and it is more likely that we will now consider 
providing alternative stop-over accommodation which we can quickly put in place 
should the need arise.  This will need to be a Member decision in due course.

 Disabled facilities grants are an ongoing statutory, mandatory service. This is demand 
lead and is funded by the Better Care Fund administered by Lincolnshire County 
Council.  The council has received additional funding, however, based on current 
levels of demand the service is likely to only spend up to the original budgeted level. 
Discussions are still ongoing with LCC about the potential wider and alternative use 
of the DFG funding made available and arrangements for any underspent grant 
across the County.

HRA Capital Schemes

 The HRA Affordable Housing programme is being reviewed as part of an overall HRA 
Business Plan.

Actions/Decisions

To note the 2017-18 forecast capital programme outturn

Recommendations
There are no recommendations as at Quarter 1.

Section 4 – Treasury

This section reports on:
 Security, Liquidity and Yield of Investment portfolio
 Current Debt Position
 Risks, issues and key messages

Security

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 

Page 87



 

monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Capita 
Asset Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour 
rating calculated for each financial institution.

All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the 
time the investment was made.  Qatar National Bank has had the maximum investment 
duration reduced to 100 days from 12 months so any future investments with Qatar will not 
exceed 100 days unless the maximum duration changes.

The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties.  

CCLA, £6,400,000

Goldman Sach IB, 
£5,000,000

Lloyds Bank, 
£3,317,214

Municipal Bonds 
Agency, £50,000

National Bank of 
Abu Dhabi, 
£5,000,000

Qatar National 
Bank, £5,000,000

Royal Bank of 
Scotland, 

£5,000,000

Svenska 
Handelsbanken, 

£4,956,132

Welland Homes 
Equity, £876,966

Welland Homes 
Long Term Debtor, 

£798,619

Counterparty Exposure

Liquidity

Cash

The Council’s average level of deposits during Quarter 1 was £38m. As at 30 June the 
Council had £11.4m instant access cash available to meet cash flow requirements.  The 
table below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity. 

Page 88



 

Yield

Budgeted Interest 2017/18               £149,900 (£87.9k General Fund and £62k HRA.)   
Actual Interest achieved to 30/6/17          £ 52,135 
Forecast Outturn for 2017/18          £170,000
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID)        0.190%
Actual Yield achieved to 30/6/17          0.549%
Actual Yield outturn for 2016/17          0.554%
Actual Yield as at Q1 2016/17           0.766%

External Borrowing

The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the 
financial year.

Interest Rates

The bank rate continues to be at record low levels of 0.25% and therefore money market 
rates available to the Council remain low. The Monetary Policy Committee voted 5-3 to leave 
rates at 0.25% at its last meeting in June and expectations of an increase in the rate in 
August have reduced following the reduction in the inflation rate in July. 

Counterparty Risk

The Council has £5m invested in Qatar National Bank who had their credit rating reduced in 
May and June 2017 by the three main credit rating agencies.  The maximum duration for new 
investments has now been reduced from 12 months to 100 days for new investments by our 
external treasury advisors.  This situation is being monitored on an ongoing basis.

Page 89



 

Actions/Decisions required

That the quarter 1 position for 2017-18 and expected outturn be noted.

Recommendations
There are no recommendations as at Quarter 1.

Page 90



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Strategy and Governance

To: Cabinet - 19 September 2017

Author: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 1 2017/18

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 April 2017 to 
30 June 2017

Recommendation: 

To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.0.1 The Quarter 1 2017/18 Performance Report (Appendix A) aims to provide Members and 
residents with information about how the Council is delivering its services and how it is 
progressing against its Corporate Priorities.  The covering report highlights in further detail 
some of the indicators within the performance report.

1.0.2 Areas where performance has improved are brought to Members’ attention, as are areas of 
concern where performance is below expected levels or is considered to be worsening.

1.1 Key Performance Indicators

1.1.1 Quarter 1 saw performance improve in in comparison to quarter 4. Performance is rated as 
moderate with 11 indicators being green (42%) which indicates good performance. There 
are 3 (12%) amber indicators and 10 red indicators (38%); highlighting lower than expected 
performance. There are 6 indicators which are classified as data only; this means that they 
are monitored without requiring a target.  

1.2 Areas of Success

Page 91

Agenda Item 12.



Waste Services
The percentage of waste collected that was recycled or composted saw an increase; this is 
in part due to the addition of the green waste collection service. Targets were increased in 
line with this and will continue to be monitored to ensure targets are in line with season 
trends.
The missed waste collection rates were considerably reduced when compared to quarter 1 
of the previous year; this is due to the normalising of the route changes that were made last 
year and shows a great performance of 99.98% collection rate.

Commercial Property Occupancy
The occupancy of our commercial properties continued at 100%, the 50 units we own have 
been let at full capacity since February 2016. 

Planning Applications
The performance of the planning team continues to be reported above target with 92.75% 
of applications determined within time, this refers to 384 applications..

Revenues and Benefits
Following on from the performance improvements seen in 2016/17, this has continued with 
quarter 1 showing an error rate of 0.15%, the lowest it has been.

Both the business rates and council tax collections are also performing well and just above 
target.

1.3 Areas of Concern

The following areas are either not achieving their target or are experiencing a significant 
decline in performance:

Housing Void Figures
Overall housing void days was higher than target at 38 days, this is also an increase on the 
performance of the same quarter last year. The service is currently undergoing a major 
redesign with the process of void management an integral part of the re design. 
May impacted the figures following 3 properties which were void for a large amount of time 
due to major works and 1 property which did not have a waiting list of people for the type of 
property available.

This is supported by the breakdown of void figures into types where we saw contractor void 
times taking  longer in general needs properties, which are more likely to need major works 
and shorter in sheltered properties which are less likely to suffer neglect and damage. 

In terms of the letting stage of void properties, general needs properties were let within their 
target time; where there are usually larger waiting lists, and sheltered properties took longer 
to let due to the lack of suitable tenants on the waiting list. 

Sickness
There are 2 new indicators for sickness, as well as the overall days lost to sickness, we 
now report the breakdown by short and long term sickness. This will provide more context 
to understand where the days lost to sickness are due to longer term illnesses.

Overall, sickness was just over what was targeted for the quarter at 2.69 days lost per full 
time equivalent. Within that figure it is clear that the most days were lost due to long term 
sickness with 11 people off in the period totalling 479.58 days.

Page 92



Short term sickness saw more people off, 40 in the quarter, with fewer days lost, as you 
would expect

1.4 Update following PMP

At Performance Monitoring Panel questions were raised regarding the impacts of garden 
waste on residual waste weights and whether new vehicles should be released in order to 
make garden waste available to all in the District. The update from the service is as follows;

For those in the pilot areas for garden waste, they can order the paper compostable bags 
which are collected by the garden waste vehicle and sent for composting. For those outside 
of the pilot area, customers can continue to purchase the purple sacks and these are 
collected with the black bags and unable to be composted. This was the case for all garden 
waste prior to the pilot and therefore is not likely to have caused and increase in residual 
waste, there should have been a reduction. Once the scheme is available wider through the 
district, it will be looked at as to whether purple sacks are needed any longer.

The Garden Waste Scheme report for Members has been moved back 1 Member cycle to 
enable officers, and the Portfolio Holder for Place, to gain a full picture of subscription 
figures including renewals and income collected. There is currently a waiting list of 1,500, 
with 200 of these being in really rural areas which may not be viable for collection. With a 
waiting list of 1,300 there are still 2,000 subscriptions short to run another truck at full 
capacity. However, officers are seeking to propose an additional vehicle is approved 
commencing collections in April 2018. Garden waste collections commencing in the Spring 
offer the highest initial subscription rates as customers will utilise the scheme more readily 
into the growing season rather than on a reduced basis moving into the winter season. As a 
consequence, the report that will be presented to Council in January will still offer sufficient 
operational time to launch a second vehicle in the Spring. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are asked to consider the information contained within the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Report for consideration, in order to fulfil the Performance Monitoring Panel’s remit.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The report is made within the terms of reference of the Performance Monitoring Panel.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.3 Financial

5.3.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to financial matters.

Page 93



5.4 Reputation

5.4.1 Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence.  It is the purpose of this 
report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

5.5 Risk Management

5.5.1 Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect Council 
interests.

5.6 Staffing

5.6.1 The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

6.0    WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1     No Wards or Communities are affected 

7.0    ACRONYMS 

7.1     None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656866
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 1 Performance Report

Page 94

file:///C:/Users/CharlottePaine/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


2017/18 Q1 SHDC PMP Report 
 

Generated on: 07 August 2017 
 

 
 

                  

                  

Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 1 Trend Chart 
Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 1 complaints 
closed in period  
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints 
upheld divided by the total 
number of complaints 
closed in the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 # of complaints upheld Total # of complaints Value 

Q1 2016/17 9 42 21.43% 

Current Performance 

 # of complaints upheld Total # of complaints Value 

Q1 2017/18 6 18 33.33% 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

25% 

  

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld for an SHDC 
error  

There has been a reduction in the number of complaints closed 
compared to last year which has meant that percentage upheld is 
higher, despite this number upheld being less than last year.  
Upheld complaints peaked in June where 5 were upheld. Work is 
ongoing to understand what the reasons are for upheld complaints 
and how we can learn lessons from these complaints and turn 
complaints into valuable feedback.  
 

 
                  

                  

P
age 95



Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 2 Trend Chart 
Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 2 complaints 
closed in period 
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints 
upheld divided by the total 
number of complaints 
closed in the period 

  

Same Period Last Year 

 # complaints upheld # complaints closed Value 

Q1 2016/17 1 7 14.29% 

Current Performance 

 # complaints upheld # complaints closed Value 

Q1 2017/18 1 6 16.67%  
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

25% 

  

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld for an SHDC 
error  

Numbers of complaints remain similar to that of the same period last 
year, with only 1 complaint upheld. Work is ongoing to understand 
what the reasons are for upheld complaints and how we can learn 
lessons from these complaints and turn complaints into valuable 
feedback.  
 

 
                  

                  

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart 
% of calls that are 
abandoned (call 
terminated prior to 
answering), excluding 
those abandoned within 5 
seconds.  
 
This is a combined 
measure across Customer 
Contact, Revenues and 
Benefits calls  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value 

Q1 2016/17 3,452 32,328 10.68% 

Current Performance 

 Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value 

Q1 2017/18 2,887 28,444 10.15% 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

No Target  

  

A lower % is better as we look to answer more 
calls 

There has been a reduction in the number of calls received and the 
number that were terminated prior to answering, when compared to 
the same period last year. June saw the best performance with only 
5.62% of calls abandoned (504 calls). 

P
age 96



Indicator Average Wait Time in Seconds Trend Chart 
Average time to answer 
phone calls in seconds  
This is measured across 
customer services, 
revenues and benefits 
calls.  

  

Same Period Last Year 

   Value 

Q1 2016/17   114.89 

Current Performance 

   Value 

Q1 2017/18   117.67 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

No Target  

  

A lower number is better as it indicates less 
time waiting for a call to be answered 

There has been a slight increase in the average wait time for Q1 
when compared to the same time last year. However, June has seen a 
reduction to less than 82 seconds and will continue to be monitored 
to see if this reduction is a new trend. 
 

 
Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart 
% of household waste 
which has been recycled 
and composted (includes 
garden waste) against all 
the household waste 
collected   

Same Period Last Year 

 Tonnage of recycling 
and composting 

Total Tonnage 
Collected 

Value 

Q1 2016/17 2426.52 tonnes 7685.72 tonnes 31.54% 

Current Performance 

 Tonnage of recycling 
and composting 

Total Tonnage 
Collected 

Value 

Q1 2017/18 2638.86 tonnes 7869.64 tonnes 33.5% 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  32%    A higher % is better as we look to recycle or The addition of green waste collection has increased the tonnage 

P
age 97



compost more waste weights now collected for recycling and composting. Targets have 
been increased in the summer months to reflect this whilst data is 
collected to ensure accurate targets have been set. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Indicator Missed Waste Collection Rate Trend Chart 
Number of missed 
collections per 100,000 
people  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Number of missed 
collections 

Per 100,000 collection 
figure 

Value 

Q1 2016/17 1,037 10.185 101.8 

Current Performance 

 Number of missed 
collections 

Per 100,000 collection 
figure 

Value 

Q1 2017/18 335 10.185 32.9 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

33.0 

  

A lower number is better as we look to ensure 
fewer waste collections are missed 

There has been a dramatic reduction in the number of missed 
collections in Q1 of this year compared to last. There had been large 
re scheduling of routes last year, this now looks to have settled down 
and a collection rate of 99.98% is a great performance. 

 
                  

                  

P
age 98



Indicator Waste sent to 'Energy from Waste' per Household (kg) Trend Chart 

 
Number of Kg’s of residual 
waste collected per 
household sent to Energy 
from Waste  
Calculated by 'residual 
waste collected' x 1000 
then divided by number of 
households waste has 
been collected from  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Numerator Denominator Value 

Q1 2016/17 5544.32 tonnes 39,450 46.8 

Current Performance 

 Numerator Denominator Value 

Q1 2017/18 5801.90 tonnes 39,450 49.0 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

45.0 

  

A lower number is better as we look to reduce 
the amount of waste sent for incineration  

Nationally there has been an increase seen in the amount of waste 
being collected. We are actively working with Lincolnshire County 
Council and the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership to identify ways to 
address this increasing trend locally. 

 
Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart 
Occupancy levels of the 
council's industrial units  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Number of units let Total number of units Value 

Q1 2016/17 50 50 100% 

Current Performance 

 Number of units let Total number of units Value 

Q1 2017/18 50 50 100% 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
90% 

  
A higher number is better as we look to rent 
out as many council owned industrial units as 
possible 

Occupancy continue to remain at full capacity 

P
age 99



 
Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart 
% of total leavers against 
total number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes involuntary 
leavers)  
  
Target is 10% which has 
been benchmarked  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Number of leavers in 
period 

Total number of staff 
in period 

Value 

Q1 2016/17 7 256 2.73% 

Current Performance 

 Number of leavers in 
period 

Total number of staff 
in period 

Value 

Q1 2017/18 9 244 3.69% 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

2.5% 

  

Lower is better as we look to retain staff  There has been an increase in the number of leavers in the period 
compared to last year; there is also a reduction in the overall number 
of staff. This is to be expected as we work through the moving 
forward programme which includes a number of service reviews. 
We may review the target whilst we continue with the service reviews. 

 
                  

              

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  

P
age 100



Indicator Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE Trend Chart 
Total number of working 
days lost per Full Time 
Equivalent.  
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the 
period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Number of days lost Number of FTE Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 2.42 

Current Performance 

 Number of days lost Number of FTE Value 

Q1 2017/18 606.18 225.75 2.69 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
2.5 

  
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness  

There has been a slight change in the targets as we look to see what 
is achievable and in line with benchmarking. Therefore this year’s Q1 
performance is amber, despite being slightly higher than last years.  

  
Indicator Working Days Lost to Long Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart 
Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for long term 
sickness.  
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Number of days lost - 
long term 

Number of FTE Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A N/A 

Current Performance 

 Number of days lost - 
long term 

Number of FTE Value 

Q1 2017/18 479.58 225.75 2.12 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
 No Target 

  
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness  

The majority of days lost to sickness in the quarter related to long 
term sickness, as you would expect. 15 people were off on long term 
sickness during the quarter.  

P
age 101



 
 
 

Indicator Working Days Lost to Short Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart 
Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for short term 
sickness.  
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Number of days lost - 
short term 

Number of FTE Value 

Q1 2016/17    

Current Performance 

 Number of days lost - 
short term 

Number of FTE Value 

Q1 2017/18 126.6 225.75 0.56 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

No Target  

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness  

There were 40 people who were off due to short term sickness in the 
quarter, on average this accounts for 3.2 days sickness for each 
person who was off in the period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 102



Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures Trend Chart 
Total time in days from 
keys in to keys out - 
including major works for 
all tenures (General Needs 
and Sheltered Housing)  
This is calculated by total 
number of days properties 
remain vacant divided by 
the number or properties 
vacant in the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 31 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 2,298 61 38 days 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

28 days 

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments  

Performance in the quarter overall was above target, though April saw 
a better performance at 28 days. The performance in May was 
affected by 3 properties which had larger than usual void days due to 
major works and lack of a waiting list for 1 property. The housing 
service is currently going through a service review and work is under 
way to ensure that the re-design of the service addresses the issues 
affecting this. Through this, we should see a reduction in void times.  
 

 
Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Keys In to Keys Back from Contractor) - All Trend Chart 
Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let  
This is calculated by total 
number of days all 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
properties vacant in the 
period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void 
(contract) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 20 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void 
(contract) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 1,917 61 31 days 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
25 days 

  
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed  

Like the overall performance, there was an impact due to May’s 
properties; however, there was no green performance in the quarter 
for this indicator. 

P
age 103



Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - General Needs Trend Chart 
Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let. 
This is only for 'general 
needs' properties  
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
general needs properties 
vacant in the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void 
(contract) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 22 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void 
(contract) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 1,498 38 39 days 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

25 days 

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed  

Major works have impacted upon the performance for this indicator 
as we see an increase in the days taken for general needs properties 
to be made ready to be re-let. This should be addressed in the 
service re-design work which is underway. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 104



Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart 
Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let. 
This is only for 'sheltered' 
properties  
This is calculated by total 
number of days sheltered 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
sheltered properties vacant 
in the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void 
(contract) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 17 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void 
(contract) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 419 23 18 days 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

25 days 

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed  

Performance is green in sheltered housing properties where the 
likelihood of lots of work needing to be done between lettings is 
reduced.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 105



Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - General Needs Trend Chart 
Total time in days for 
properties to be let after 
the works were completed 
by the contractor. This is 
only for 'general needs' 
properties  
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant whilst the property 
is waiting to be let after 
the contractors completed 
works divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void 
(letting) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 4 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void 
(letting) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 94 38 2 days 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

3 days 

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant for letting 
post works completion  

Letting days have remained within target throughout the quarter and 
shows there is work being done to get tenants ready for properties 
whilst they are being worked on. 

 

P
age 106



Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart 
Total time in days for 
properties to be let after 
the works were completed 
by the contractor. This is 
only for 'sheltered' 
properties  
This is calculated by total 
number of days sheltered 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the property 
is waiting to be let after 
the contractors completed 
works divided by the total 
number of sheltered 
properties vacant in the 
period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void 
(letting) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 25 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void 
(letting) 

Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 237 23 10 days 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

3 days 

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant for letting 
post works completion  

Performance has improved compared to the same period last year, 
however it is still above the target of 3 days. This is due to the 
properties which have no waiting list and therefore are unable to be 
let quickly. This is also to be looked at during the service re-design. 

 
Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - General Needs Trend Chart 
Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to keys 
out to the new tenant. This 
is only for 'general needs' 
properties  
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 22 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value 

Q1 2017/18 1,633 38 43 days 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
28 days 

  
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 

The key to key value is the overall of the contractor days and letting 
time, therefore it is clear that the issue that caused this poor 

P
age 107



receiving rent payments  performance is the delay in contractor days. 
 
 

 
                  

                  

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart 
Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to keys 
out to the new tenant. This 
is only for 'general needs' 
properties  
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties 
void 

Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 40 days 

Current Performance 

 Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties 
void 

Value 

Q1 2017/18 221.667 9 25 days 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

28 days 

  

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments  

The key to key value is the overall of the contractor days and letting 
time, therefore the good performance in the contractor days has 
ensured this indicator is within target. 
 

          
              

    

                 

P
age 108



Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 households Trend Chart 
P1E Return - Prevention 
and Relieving of 
Homelessness  
Number of potentially 
homeless cases diverted 
from homelessness per 
1,000 households  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Numerator Denominator Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 3.6 

Current Performance 

 Numerator Denominator Value 

Q1 2017/18 79 38.693 2.0 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

No Target  

  

This is not a targeted measure. The number 
does not reflect % of cases prevented from 
homelessness and therefore will fluctuate 
dependent upon demand to the service.  

The information provided includes April and May, June was not 
available at the time of writing the report 

 
Indicator % of all planning applications determined within time Trend Chart 
Number of planning 
applications determined 
within their statutory times 
divided by total number of 
applications received.  
Includes all application 
types (majors, minors, 
others)  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 # plan apps determined 
in time 

# planning applications 
received 

Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A N/A 

Current Performance 

 # plan apps determined 
in time 

# planning applications 
received 

Value 

Q1 2017/18 384 414 92.75% 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
70% 

  
Higher is better as we look to determine as 
many as possible within their timescales  

Significantly above target, reflects effective use of extensions of time 
where required plus hard work of officers in dealing with applications 

P
age 109



within statutory timeframes particularly for householder applications. 
        

                  

                  

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart 
Local Authority error in 
Housing Benefit 
overpayment  
Amount of benefits 
overpaid divided by 
benefits paid (% of overall 
expenditure)  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend 

Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 0.46% 

Current Performance 

 Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend 

Value 

Q1 2017/18 6,291.29 4,203,348.61 0.15% 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

0.42% 

  

Lower is better as we look to minimise the 
amount of money paid in error and reduce the 
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above 
0.48%)  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Following the work under taken last year alongside Civica, it is clear 
to see a dramatic improvement in this year’s error rate compared to 
last years. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 110



Indicator Business Rate In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart 
Amount of Business Rates 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 In year collection 
amount 

Total collectable debit Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 30.1% 

Current Performance 

 In year collection 
amount 

Total collectable debit Value 

Q1 2017/18 8,107,286.34 26,458,218.98 30.64% 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
30% 

  
Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the business rates debit as possible  

Collection rates remain slightly above target meaning that slightly 
more has been collected than was expected, to date.   

 
Indicator Council Tax In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart 
Amount of Council Tax 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 In year collection 
amount 

Total collectable debit Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 30.35% 

Current Performance 

 In year collection 
amount 

Total collectable debit Value 

Q1 2017/18 13,058,392.31 43,006,805.21 30.36% 
 

 

  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  
30.35% 

  
Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the Council Tax debit as possible  

Collection rates remain slightly above target meaning that slightly 
more has been collected than was expected, to date. 

 

P
age 111



Indicator New Homes - Affordable Trend Chart 
Number of affordable 
homes completed in the 
District the period  

  

Same Period Last Year 

 Numerator Denominator Value 

Q1 2016/17 N/A N/A 0 

Current Performance 

 Numerator Denominator Value 

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 9 
 

 
  Current Target   What does good look like?   Latest Note   

  

  

  

Higher is better as we look to increase the 
number of affordable properties in the District  

No new affordable dwellings were completed in June. 
There were three affordable homes completed in May.  
These were two affordable rent properties in Spalding and 1 shared 
equity. 
There were six affordable homes completed in April.  
These were three shared equity properties (2 in the Countryside, 1 in 
Spalding), two affordable rent properties (both in Spalding) and 1 
social rent property (in the Countryside). 

 
  
 

P
age 112


	Agenda
	2.a) Minutes of the Cabinet
	2.b) Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee
	7. Pride in South Holland (including an update on untidy sites).
	8. Delivering Spalding's Relief Road
	9. Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool 2018/19
	10. Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan Area Designation
	Appendix A

	11. Quarter 1 Finance Report 2017/18
	Appendix A for Q1 Finance Report 2017/18

	12. Quarter 1 2017-18 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 1 2017-18 Performance Overview Report


